Diversity and Inclusion within Police Firearms Teams

A report for the National Police Chiefs Council, January 2023

Authors: Dr Carol Cox; Dr Heather Panter; Dr Adrian James; Dr Laura Boulton; Rachel Hagan, Jade Craven; and Professor Daniel Silverstone

Liverpool Centre for Advanced Policing Studies School of Justice Studies Liverpool John Moores University

About this report

Historically white and male, concerns about the demographics of British policing and the extent to which the service reflects the communities it serves, predate but were given renewed focus and energy by the Race Relations Amendment Act of 2000. The Act reinforced public authorities' duties to promote racial equality and to develop more inclusive and diverse public institutions. The debate it energised is as important today as it has ever been. It continues to inspire policing policies such as the Police Race Action Plan (National Police Chiefs Council, NPCC, 2022) and the service's Attraction, Recruitment, Progression and Retention Toolkit (NPCC, 2018). Together, these serve as a constant reminder that concepts such as fairness, inclusivity, and diversity, which were at the heart of this inquiry, are required by law and by policing policy in every facet of police work.

While wider questions of police representativeness and of workforce diversity described in the action plan and tool kit referred to above are not addressed directly in this project - the parameters of the research were drawn much more narrowly than would allow for such an examination - the research team recognises that the issues those policies address, provide an important and significant backdrop to this project.

The police institution is scrutinised by its stakeholders, its communities, and by its executive. In this case, in 2018, internal scanning by the National Women's Armed Policing Forum and the Police Firearms Officer Association identified barriers to the recruitment and retention of female officers in firearm units. Concerns that those barriers might have their roots in issues of diversity and inclusivity were acknowledged and taken up by the National Police Chiefs Council's Diversity and Inclusion in Firearms National Group (DIFNG).

The DIFNG tasked a team of researchers from Liverpool John Moores University, to collect and evaluate evidence from authorised firearms officers (AFOs), police officers, and other staff. The team critically assessed: individuals' perceptions of a discrete culture within firearms departments and the extent to which that culture has had an impact, or may impact, on inclusion and diversity in firearms roles; barriers to recruitment of an inclusive and representative armed workforce; and other issues associated with uniforms, equipment, and training. This report presents the team's findings.

Acknowledgements

The research team thanks:

- the National Police Chiefs' Council, which commissioned and funded this report.
- The research respondents who participated in surveys and focus groups and provided the empirical evidence that underpins this report.
- Debby Mackay and Dominique Walker (both Liverpool Centre for Advanced Policing Studies) and Dr Matthew Millings (LJMU School of Justice Studies) for their important contributions to the study and to the completion of this report.

Table of Contents

About this report	2
Acknowledgements	3
List of tables and figures	7
Executive summary	8
Methodology	8
Notes on the research environment and sample	9
Findings	11
Attractiveness of the role	11
Pay and rewards	11
Uniform and kit	11
Work/life balance	12
Macho culture	12
Recommendations	12
Introduction	14
Outline of the report	14
Chapter 1: Police demographics and cultures	15
1.1 UK and PSEW demographics	15
1.2 Occupational culture	16
1.2.1 Social identity theory	16
1.2.2 Representativeness and tokenism	17
1.3 Discourses associating diversity with police cultures	19
1.3.1 Race and culture	19
1.3.2 Culture and gender	20
1.3.3 Culture and sexuality	21
1.4 Pay and rewards	23

1.4 Summary2	23
Chapter 2: Firearms team demographics, occupational discourses, and nuances of police	
sub-culture(s)2	25
2.1 Authorised Firearms Officers (AFOs)2	25
2.2 Firearms culture2	26
2.3 Structural barriers to recruitment to firearms teams2	29
2.3.1 Shift work and family life2	29
2.3.2 Physical health2	29
2.3.3 Mental health3	30
2.3.3 Physiological factors and shooting performance	31
2.3.4 AFO uniforms3	31
2.3.5 Weapons and holsters3	33
2.3.6 Headwear and other kit3	34
2.4 Police shootings3	34
Chapter 3: Methodology3	36
3.1 Research design principles3	36
3.1.1 Research context	36
3.1.2 Research question and aims3	37
3.1.3 Research instruments3	37
3.2 Research environment and sample3	38
3.3 Data analysis and emergent themes3	39
3.4 Summary3	39
Chapter 4: Research Findings4	11
4.1 Theme 1: AFO demographic and the attractiveness of the role4	11
4.1.1 Officers physical health and fitness4	
	ŧΤ

4.1.3 Scrutiny following a police shooting4	16
4.1.4 Training environment4	16
4.2 Theme 2: Career progression4	17
4.3 Theme 3: Work/life balance4	19
4.4 Theme 4: Culture and representativeness5	52
4.4.1 The macho environment5	52
4.4.2 Diversity in firearms teams5	56
4.5 Theme 5: Kit and equipment6	50
4.6 Theme 6: Pay and rewards6	53
4.7 Summary6	54
Chapter 5 Discussion, conclusions, and recommendations	55
Introduction	55
5.1 Discussion6	55
5.1.1 Uniform and kit6	55
5.1.2 Training and teaching style6	56
5.1.3 Pay and rewards6	56
5.1.4 Work/life balance6	57
5.1.5 Attractiveness of the AFO role6	58
5.1.6 Macho culture and its impact on the diversity of firearms units	70
5.2 Conclusions7	71
5.3 Recommendations	73
References	75

List of tables and figures

Title	Page	
Figure 2.1 - Armed Officers in England and Wales 2008-2021	24	
Table 4.1 – physical health (all respondents)	39	
Figure 4.1 - Concerns about passing the EFT (sorted by AFO/Non AFO and gender)	40	
Figure 4.2 – Interest in becoming a firearms officer (Male/Female/PNTS)	42	
Table 4.2 - Motivators to join a firearms team (all Non AFO survey respondents)	43	
Table 4.3 – Demotivators to join a firearms team (all Non AFO survey respondents	43	
Figure 4.4 – Career benefits of joining a firearms team	46	
Figure 4.5 Flexible working practices (sorted by AFO/Non AFO groups and by gender)	48	
Figure 4.6 – AFO shift work (sorted by AFO/Non AFO and gender)	48	
Figure 4.7 – Firearms is a male dominated environment (All respondents)	51	
Figure 4.8 – Firearms is a male dominated environment (sorted by AFO/Non AFO and gender)	52	
Figure 4.9 – Firearms unit associated with a macho culture (sorted by AFO/Non AFO and gender)	52	
Figure 4.10– Lack of diversity in firearms units (sorted by gender and sexual identity)	54	
Figure 4.11 – Are diversity-promoting strategies appropriate (sorted by AFO/Non AFO and by ger	ider) 56	
Figure 4.12 – If more officers in firearms units looked like me, I would be more inclined to apply (ethnicity	sorted by 57	
Figure 4.14 - The AFO kit is comfortable (sorted by gender)	59	
Figure 4.15 - The equipment required to be carried on the AFO uniform is too heavy for me to wear (sorted by		
gender)	60	
Figure 4.16 – There are not enough incentives to join the firearms unit (sorted by gender)	61	

Executive summary

Despite the widespread recognition that the 43 forces who make up the Police Service of England and Wales (PSEW) need to effect change to better reflect the communities they serve; the workforce continues overwhelmingly to be white and male (Home Office, 2022). Though, since 2010, there has been a gradual upward trend in the proportion of officers who identify as an ethnic minority (excluding a white minority), on 31st March 2022, White officers still made up 91.9 percent of the workforce. On that date, there were 11,053 officers from minority ethnic groups (excluding white minorities), making up 8.1 percent of the workforce. Breaking that figure down further, Black officers made up 1.3 percent of the total workforce, Asian officers 3.7 percent, and those identifying as a Mixed ethnic group or another ethnic group 3.1 percent. There were 46,955 female police officers, making up 33.5 percent of officers in the service (Home Office, Ibid.).

Statistics on the demographics of firearms teams and authorised firearms officers (AFOs) were not readily available to the research team but, drawing on the work of Jones et al., in 2020, just 29 out of 6584 AFOs identified as Black/Black British. That figure represented 0.4 percent of the AFO population compared with 7.3 percent of the PSEW workforce (Home Office, 2020). Notably, 14 of the 43 Home Office forces did not have a single ethnic minority AFO. The percentage of female AFOs was 9.8 percent compared with 31 percent of the wider population (Home Office, op. cit., p.27).

Methodology

Seeking to better understand the underrepresentation of minority groups and to encourage more female officers to consider joining firearms teams, the Diversity and Inclusion in Firearms National Group (DIFAG) of the National Police Chiefs Council (NPCC) commissioned a Liverpool John Moores University research team to examine: (i) cultural perceptions of armed units; (ii) the ways in which those perceptions impact diversity within firearms roles; (iii) barriers to recruitment to firearm roles; and (iv) the extent to which issues associated with uniforms, equipment, or training have an impact on achieving an inclusive and representative armed workforce. The research team framed those requirements in the research question, 'Why are minority groups underrepresented in police firearms teams?' and in a set of research aims. Those were to:

- 1. critically examine the perceptions of firearms teams' culture among three groups: existing AFOs; former AFOs; and non-AFOs;
- critically assess cultural barriers to improving inclusion and diversity within firearms teams;
- 3. critically assess AFO practice to determine whether elements of the role exclude or limit diversity;
- 4. critically examine whether there are any aspects of uniform, equipment, or training that impact upon diversity and inclusion in firearms teams.

The team collected research data in three ways. First, via a comprehensive review of relevant literature (including secondary data extrapolated from a PSEW survey in the north-west region, carried out in 2020). Second, using an online survey, advertised across the PSEW and other police forces/agencies with armed officer capability, to collect officers' views and experiences. Third, via focus groups that allowed the team to engage with AFOs and to delve deeper into the survey responses. All data were sorted and coded to enable them to be analysed thematically in the context of the existing literature.

Notes on the research environment and sample

Given the continuing dominance of the White Male demographic in the target group, the PSEW and other police departments/agencies in Great Britain and Northern Ireland with armed officers, and the small numbers of respondents in groups outside of that core demographic, inferring every variation in meaning from the data collected is no easy task. Although respondents could select from a much wider range of options, survey responses were grouped according using the labels: 'Male', 'Female, 'Other'; 'White', 'Asian', 'Black', Other'; and Straight, Lesbian/Gay; Other. Where the data analysis suggested that a more nuanced explanation of a response was required, that explanation is included in the narrative.

A total of 4,007 respondents completed the survey, which was open to all officers and staff regardless of role. Respondents self-identified as 'Male' (n=2330, 58 percent of the sample),

'Female' (n=835, 21 percent), or 'Other' (n=842, 21 percent). To facilitate statistical analysis, this third group included anyone who did not identify as 'male' or 'female' and those who preferred not to disclose their gender. Hence, the larger number than might be expected. In terms of ethnicity, 3076 (78 percent) survey respondents identified as 'White'; 96 (2 percent) identified as 'Asian'; 34 (1 percent) as 'Black'; 94 (2 percent) as 'Mixed'; and 707 (18 percent) as 'Other'. This third grouping included those who did not disclose their ethnicity. All focus group participants were 'White'.

Focus groups were made up solely of AFOs. The contributions of 11 PSEW officers and two Ministry of Defence Police (MDP) officers were recorded. The survey was completed by officers and staff across the PSEW, and by officers of the National Crime Agency, British Transport Police, the Civil Nuclear Constabulary, the MDP, Police Scotland, and the Police Service of Northern Ireland. Of those respondents, 1520 (38 percent) were current or former AFOs; 2487 respondents (62 percent) were not (and never had been) employed in the AFO role.

To ensure that no group was excluded from the sample, the survey collected data about respondents' sexual identity; 2707 survey respondents (68 percent of the sample) identified as 'straight'; 104 (3 percent) as 'lesbian/gay'; and 1196 (30 percent) as 'other'. Again, the 'Other' grouping is higher than one may expect because it includes respondents who identified as: bisexual; aromantic; asexual; fluid; pansexual; questioning; queer; and all respondents who did not disclose their sexual identity (by far, the largest proportion of responses in this group). Focus group members were not asked to state their sexual identity.

It proved impractical to link negative aspects of the firearms role or environment (factors that discouraged engagement) based on ethnicity or sexual identity. The data collected simply would not allow for that; the researchers argue, given the demographic of the target group, that no survey would be able to make those links in a meaningful way. The team believes that other methods such as interviews and observations could make those links and recommends that such methods are incorporated into a longitudinal study it recommends the PSEW commissions as a result of this research.

10

Findings

The study on which this report is based, answered the research question, 'why are minority groups underrepresented in police firearms teams? It did so by critically examining; the perceptions of firearms teams' culture among two groups: current and former AFOs; and non-AFOs; assessing cultural barriers to improving inclusion and diversity within firearms teams; AFO practice (to determine whether elements of the role exclude or limit diversity); and whether there are any aspects of uniform, equipment, or training that impact upon diversity and inclusion in firearms teams.

Attractiveness of the role

A high proportion of the sworn police workforce would never, under ordinary circumstances, consider joining a firearms team. That is true for individuals in all groups; regardless of their gender, ethnicity or sexual identity. Many officers do not want to be armed; some suffer from ill health or have disabilities that restrict their choices; and some lack the fitness required to work in a such a physically demanding role. Realistically, the pool from which firearms teams can draw, probably is less than half the size of the operational police workforce. A frequently cited reason for reluctance to consider the AFO role is the lack of support for officers following a police shooting. That issue should be addressed directly in marketing material, discovery days, and in all other outreach activities.

Pay and rewards

AFOs, believe they deserve greater financial rewards for performing the role. The research team cannot assess the merits of that claim. It should be noted that study indicates there is a stark difference in how officers in the mainstream perceive both the AFO role and AFOs' deservedness of additional reward for performing it. If the PSEW consider that additional payments to AFOs are merited it will need to manage the payment process sensitively and carefully because this study has shown that such payments could be divisive.

Uniform and kit

A particular concern for Female AFOs. Many have had or are still having to make do with 'hand me downs' or Male kit and uniform that does not meet their needs. This is not just a performance issue; it is a matter of officer safety and well-being. It also is a negative indicator of the value a force puts on a member of its staff.

Work/life balance

Female AFOs left or did not consider applying for the role because they could not reconcile performing it with fulfilling their family or caring responsibilities. Arguably, their services would not have been lost if a mutually agreeable work plan could have been developed and implemented. The challenges of recruiting new staff are such that effective staff retention strategies are of paramount importance. Forces invest so much in AFOs that they are too expensive a resource to lose without ensuring that every possible avenue to retaining their services has been explored. A management review of retention policies that drew inter alia on officers' exit interviews would provide insights that could be incorporated into future policy and practice.

Macho culture

Normatively, culture informs the way people behave, interact with one another, communicate and see the world around them. It is deeply embedded and highly resistant to change. The macho culture is endemic in firearms teams. This research has shown that it has a corrosive effect on the team dynamic; on relations between Male AFOs and AFOs who identify with other groups; and on relations between the teams and officers in mainstream policing. There is an urgent need both for cultural and behavioural change in the firearms environment.

Recommendations

1. There is an urgent need for a cultural audit of firearms teams.

2. There should be a management review of firearms teams' retention policies.

3. There should be a management review of officers' kit and uniform provision, which currently does not meet all individuals' needs.

4. This study represents a snapshot in time. Once the cultural audit has been completed and its results analysed, NPCC should commission a longitudinal study aimed at assessing changes over time in firearms teams' culture and behaviours. Together, these studies will enable the service to target the interventions this research shows so clearly are needed.

Introduction

This study was commissioned by the Diversity and Inclusion in Firearms National Group of the National Police Chiefs Council (NPCC). It examines: (i) police officers' perceptions of the culture of armed units; (ii) the ways in which those perceptions impact diversity within firearms roles; (iii) barriers to recruitment to firearm roles; and (iv) the extent to which issues associated with uniforms, equipment, or training have an impact on achieving an inclusive and representative armed workforce. The research team framed that requirement in the research question, 'Why are minority groups underrepresented in police firearms teams?' and in a set of research aims. Those were to:

- 1) critically examine the perceptions of firearms teams' culture among three groups: existing AFOs; former AFOs; and non-AFOs;
- 2) critically assess cultural barriers to improving inclusion and diversity within firearms teams;
- 3) critically assess AFO practice to determine whether elements of the role exclude or limit diversity.
- 4) Critically examine whether there are any aspects of uniform, equipment, or training that impact upon diversity and inclusion in firearms teams?

Outline of the report

After this brief introduction, Chapter 1 explores what is known about the current demographic of the PSEW, occupational police cultures and how said cultures may be upheld. Specifically, the concepts of group dynamics and organisational culture are explored to underpin the analysis of a discrete police firearms culture. Chapter 2 examines the nuances of culture in specialist firearms units. It also assesses issues of uniforms, firearms kit, and equipment. Chapter 3 explains the research methodology. Chapters 4 reports the research findings. Finally, Chapter 5 concludes the report by discussing the study's findings and by making recommendations for future policy and practice.

Chapter 1: Police demographics and cultures

This chapter presents a demographic profile of the UK and of the PSEW. It also reflects on the body of scholarly research on police organisational cultures, which has sought to explain how they may influence the recruitment, retention, and progression of underrepresented groups in policing; specifically in armed units. Thus, the narrative builds the theoretical foundation for understanding police cultures.

1.1 UK and PSEW demographics

The 2011 UK Census reported that the total population of England and Wales was 56.1 million. 48.2 million people (86.0 percent) were from White ethnic groups; 4.2 million people (7.5 percent) were from Asian ethnic groups; and 1.9 million people (3.3 percent) were from Black ethnic groups. 1.2 million people (2.2 percent) had Mixed ethnicity and 0.6 million people (one percent) belonged to other ethnic groups (ONS, 2018). The same census reported that women and girls made up 51 percent of the population of England and Wales, and men and boys made up the other 49 percent. Most ethnic groups had roughly the same male and female populations (ONS, 2018a).

In terms of the demographic profile of the PSEW, on 31st March 2022 there were 140,228 full-time equivalent (FTE) police officers; 46,955 of those officers were female (33.5 percent of the officers in the service) (Home Office, 2022). White officers made up 91.9 percent of the workforce (Home Office, 2022). Black officers made up 1.3 percent of the workforce, Asian officers 3.7 percent, and those identifying as a Mixed ethnic group or another ethnic group 3.1 percent. Since 2010, there has been a gradual upward trend in the proportion of officers who identify as belonging to an ethnic minority (Home Office op. cit., p.1). Though there is not a large disparity between the demographics of England and Wales and the PSEW, it is significant that even though there has been an upward trend in the proportion of ethnic minority officers in the service over the last 11 years, it may be inferred from this data that in this context, despite its efforts, the PSEW does not yet truly reflect all the communities it serves.

1.2 Occupational culture

Police culture has attracted public scrutiny and scholarly research for many years. All organizations have cultures and subcultures that influence staff behaviour. Culture is a natural by-product of the values, expectations, and practices that guide and inform the actions of the organization's members. Many organizational cultures are consistent with legitimate missions and goals and serve as positive influences on those organizations. That is as true for policing as it is for any other profession. In the PSEW, its positives are embodied in behaviours and values such as mutual supportiveness, camaraderie, teamwork, perseverance, empathy, and personal sacrifice. Those shared values enable officers to survive and prosper in what, at times, can be challenging and emotionally draining jobs.

Increasingly, the positives of police culture are being acknowledged in the scholarly literature (see for example: Cockcroft, 2020; Biggs and Brough, 2016; and Crank, 2014). However, it is the negative dimension of culture that has attracted the greater attention. Researchers often have focused on what they have perceived, variously, as police cynicism, conservatism, suspicion, and authoritarianism which have manifested themselves in phenomena such as, 'the code of silence', the 'police wall of silence', 'otherness', and insularity (see for example: Lila *et al*, 2013; Loftus, 2010; Waddington, 1999; and Reiner, 1985; Holdaway, 1983). Some research has recognised that culture is neither universal nor immutable; it can adapt within the service and within departments (Charman, 2017 and Chan, 1996).

1.2.1 Social identity theory

The concept of social identity is significant in any examination of culture. It is particularly important in the context of this study. Social identity theory posits that occupational identity is formed through a process of self-categorization (Tajfel, 1978). An individual associates themselves with group values, rites, and collective behaviour then emphasises those behaviours, attitudes, and beliefs which they perceive as being fundamental to the 'in-group' (Charman, 2020 and Tajfel, op. cit. p14). In-group members compare themselves to others outside of the group in the belief, 'we are what we are because they are not what we are' (Tajfel, 1981; p. 323). However, the emphasis on perceived similarities and differences may lead to unfavourable comparisons and then to divisions (Charman, 2020).

16

The 'otherness' or 'us versus them' concept in policing has been evaluated in a range of different contexts (see for example: James *et al* forthcoming, in the context of fast-track detective recruitment; Adlam, 2010 in the context of police leadership; and White, 2006 in the context of police training). Just like culture, differentiation can be viewed positively; it can sustain a group and contribute to enhancing the self-image of group members while bolstering personal and team confidence (Charman, 2020). Yet, this social process also magnifies the differences of those deemed to be outsiders (Charman, op. cit. p.82). It has been argued that these differences become more sharply exaggerated during the process of categorisation; establishing rigid boundaries of who is 'in' and 'out' (Turner *et al*, 1979).

1.2.2 Representativeness and tokenism

Another lens for interpreting the in/out divide is provided by Kanter (1977). She advanced the concept of tokenism. Where it exists, tokenism can present challenges associated with assimilation, visibility, and the polarisation and isolation of group members (Kanter, Ibid.). Assimilation is the process that occurs when minority officers conform to the values and behaviours of the dominant group to 'fit in' (Todak *et al.*, 2021 p.662). Assimilation may be linked with the concept of differential deployment (Westmarland, 2001); where women police are forced into gendered assignments.

Researchers have argued that to be visible, female officers need to work twice as hard as men to prove their capability (see for example: Archbold *et al.*, 2010; Archbold and Schulz, 2008; and Rabe-Hemp 2008). Linking the ideas of tokenism and visibility, Archbold and Schulz (2009 p.62) are critical of the police institution for 'parading' women officers before the public as token members of a police force. In their study, Todak *et al.*, (2021) argued that as a result some women officers believed that they only were promoted/assigned because of their gender. That can have a corrosive effect on individuals' self-worth. Todak and Brown (2019) argue that the negative effect of visibility is more prominent for Black women officers due to intersectional components of race and gender.

Zimmer (1988) notes that the concept of tokenism has been incorporated widely into studies of women who work in non-traditional jobs. She argues that many women's negative job experiences and their inability to achieve equality, can be attributed to their token status; their low proportion in a workplace dominated by men (Zimmer, op. cit., 1988 p.64). Studies by Archbold and Schulz (Ibid.); Stichman *et al.*, (2010) and Gustafson (2008) all disclosed performance and visibility pressures on women officers that the researchers attributed to their underrepresentation.

Kanter (Ibid.) argues that women's positions in male-dominated organizations will improve if the size of the group is substantially increased to reach a tipping point of 15 percent of the workforce; at which point women's token status is eliminated. She argues that this is evidenced by the fact that they begin to experience fewer workplace problems and higher levels of social acceptance. Kanter (Ibid.) also argued that once the tipping point is reached, minority group members' perceptions of their work environments as places offering opportunities for promotion, favourable job assignments, and career advancement, also increases.

The notion of a 15 percent tipping point has been explored in the police milieu. Researching in police institutions where the proportion of women officers was below that point, Krimmel and Gorley (2003) found that women would take a new assignment if they were offered it but were less satisfied with it. They believed their jobs were less important than those being undertaken by women in police departments with female representation at or above the tipping point. Moreover, they would not recommend a career in policing to a friend. Archbold and Schulz (2008) found that in similar circumstances, women's motivation to accept specialist assignments was low; even when they were encouraged to apply for them.

Some studies have indicated the positive benefits of representing minority group members effectively. For example, Rows and Ross (2015), found that representation can build community trust. The work of Lasley *et al.*, (2011), pointed to its help in develop community partnerships. White and Escobar's study highlighted that it may increase cultural understanding). While Sklansky (2006) indicated its propensity to improve competencies. Other researchers have emphasised its significance in improving the integration of LGBT+ identities into police occupational culture (Colvin, 2012; Panter, 2018).

18

1.3 Discourses associating diversity with police cultures

1.3.1 Race and culture

In biological terms, race refers to categories of people who share certain inherited physical characteristics but it is argued that is an over-simplification that limits debate on its significance in modern society. Kinouani (2021) argues that the term is a social and historical fabrication or construct linked to colonial and imperial ways of viewing and organising the world. Cousins (2019) argues that race and racism are major factors in the construction of identity; particularly when the environment is made up of a white majority. The notion of 'race' as a social construction has become commonplace in sociological literature (Holdaway 1997). Holdaway argues that studies into the social construction of race, that make links between theoretical ideas and empirical research (especially at the level of work organizations) are lacking and are much needed (1997).

Two of the most significant and influential judicial inquiries into police and community relations in policing's history, the Scarman Inquiry (1981) and the Macpherson Inquiry (1999), highlighted the need for policing to examine its cultures to identify and to eliminate cultural bias and racisms. Both led to extensive and wide-ranging examinations of police relations with the Black, Asian, and other ethnic minority communities and to the scrutiny of police diversity practices more broadly (McLaughlin, 2007). Those processes are continuing today.

Policing remains an overwhelmingly white, heterosexual, male-dominated occupation (see for example: Heidensohn 1992; Walklate, 2000; Brown, 2007; Brown *et al.*, 2020; Shears, 2020). Foster (2003) argued that this poses important challenges for those who do not correspond with that norm because of their gender, ethnicity, or sexuality. Many other scholars have argued for recognition of the racism, bias, traditional white norms, and stereotypical assumptions that exist within police cultures. Chakraborti and Garland (2015) argue that acknowledging the existence of police cultures can facilitate a more nuanced understanding of cultural bias and its influence upon police-minority relations' (2015, p.122). In her study, Loftus (2008) identified the harassment and exclusion of minority ethnic groups in the police organizations as a central and problematic feature of police culture (Loftus, 2008).

19

1.3.2 Culture and gender

As a professional endeavour, policing predominately is perceived as masculine (see for example: Heidensohn, 1992 and Brown, 2007). Dodge *et al.*, noted that 'the social organization of policing is replete with norms and values that embody traditional forms of masculinity' (2011 p.700). Silvestri argued that police work is defined by the culture as a role only 'masculine men can accomplish' (2003, p. 31). While Westmarland's study found that male officers viewed themselves as 'hero protectors' (2001 p.27). West and Zimmerman argued that the masculine profession of policing reflects 'socially gendered perceptual, interactional, and micro-political activities that cast particular pursuits as expressions of masculine and feminine natures' (1987 p.126).

Researchers have argued that due to the nature of the job, police culture has always been synonymous with hypermasculinity and dichotomous gender role regulation (see for example: Panter, 2018; Colvin, 2012; Rabe-Hemp, 2009; Loftus, 2008; and Westmarland, 2001). Some researchers believe that hegemonic masculinity's social construction and manifestation in policing can be seen in work assignments based on desirable performance traits which limits female officers to 'women issues' (e.g., domestic violence, child abuse investigations, sex crimes, etc.) and male officers to 'male issues' (e.g., firearms, tactical units, drug enforcement, etc.) (see for example: Barlow and Barlow, 2000 and Westmarland, 2001). Westmarland (2001) found that gender representation within specialist units exaggerated the aspects of police culture based upon which they were gendered.

Masculine police subcultures have been researched widely because of their putative links to the disadvantaging of women police (see for example: Brown and Heidensohn, 2000; Brown *et al.*, 2019; Silvestri, 2017; Rief and Clinkinbeard, 2020; and Westmarland, 2001). Researchers have highlighted how the recruitment and retention of women in policing can be stunted both by internal and external factors (e.g., gendered processes, gender socialisation, and masculine police subcultures) (see for example: Brown *et al.*, 2019; Corsianos, 2009; Brown, 2007; and Garcia, 2003). In the literature women have been perceived as less capable of meeting physical demands (see for example; Prenzler and Sinclair, 2013 and Brown and Fielding, 1993); assigned to gender-specific roles (see Garcia, 2003; Westmarland, 2001; and Martin, 1999); denied promotions (Brown and Silvestri, 2019).

It has been argued that perceived threats to the masculine police ethos explain rigid adherence to occupational gender norms (in terms of male behaviour versus female behaviour, male physicality versus female physicality, and so on) (see: Panter, 2018 and Miller *et al*, 2003). Those norms may be validated negatively through the subordination of women, heterosexism, genderism, authority, control, and competitive individualism (Panter, Ibid.). Researchers have argued that the capacity for bias is confirmed by lack of social acceptance of trans feminine, effeminate gay male identities, and femininity in general in policing (see: Panter, 2018; Colvin, 2012; Messerschmidt, 1996; and Connell, 1995).

The findings of a recent inspection of the PSEW by its oversight body suggest that policing's problems run even deeper. HMICFRS (2022 p.2) reported that 'an alarming number of female officers and staff [surveyed] ... alleged appalling behaviour by male colleagues. Their allegations included sexual harassment and serious sexual assault'. The inspectors concluded that 'far too many women had at some stage in their career, experienced unwanted sexual behaviour towards them'.

1.3.3 Culture and sexuality

Within social environments, cultural factors that impact perceptions of heteronormativity (the binary assumption of two genders, and heterosexual sexuality) are important when examining hypermasculinity. Hypermasculinity is related to hegemonic masculinity in how 'maleness' is situated as a dominant social position of acceptance. In other words, hegemonic masculinity reinforces the notion that maleness is a dominant social position compared to 'femaleness' (Rabe-Hemp, 2008; Connell and Messerschmidt, 2005; and Connell, 1995).

Masculinity is not a unitary construct; the lines separating masculinity and hypermasculinity can be drawn in different places on a male-gender-role continuum depending on cultural context (Brown, 1988). Hypermasculinity typically can be adopted with male or, rarely, female constructs as a reaction to repudiation of feminine aspects of oneself (see Panter, 2017 and Brown, 1988). It adds another layer of complexity to understanding: LGBT+ police occupational biases and how sexuality intersects with perceptions of gender and desirable performance traits. This is heightened in occupational environments where hypermasculinity (e.g., policing), or hyperfemininity (e.g., nursing) exist (Panter, 2018).

Historically, within both American and British policing, LGBT+ identities have reported homophobia in the workplace (see: Panter, 2018; Jones and Williams, 2013; Colvin, 2015, 2012, and 2009; and Burke, 1994, 1994a; and 1993) and transphobia (see: Panter, 2018 and 2017). Colvin (2009) found that a significant proportion of the gay and lesbian officers in her sample, reported widespread mistreatment by fellow officers. That included: being treated as an outsider (51 percent); tokenism (43 percent); feelings of social isolation (48 percent); homophobic talk (67 percent); repeated harassment (34 percent); and retaliation (25 percent).

British transgender police officers told Panter that colleagues, variously, had labelled them, 'bull-dyke; fag-hag, he-she, shim; queer faggot, he-she; faggot, tranny; and sissy faggot' (2018 p.172-3). Panter noted that the terminology used was more aligned with homophobia than with transphobia (Panter, Ibid.). She argued that LGBT+ officers, uniquely, may face heightened intersectional components of bias and occupational rejection when pursuing a career in hypermasculine roles (e.g., firearms, traffic, etc.), or refuse even to pursue certain roles altogether (Ibid.).

Perhaps counter to some of the foregoing narrative, Panter (2017) also found that some LGBT+ people may be specifically drawn to policing because of the established foundation of rigid perceptions of heteronormative gender performance. She found that in some, very rare, circumstances, it bolstered the self-esteem of officers who regulated their gender presentation in occupational environments centred on binary gender performance expectations (i.e., heteronormativity) (Panter, Ibid.). However, Panter (Ibid.) warned that gender androgyny, or non-conforming heteronormativity, often is not accepted within police cultures due to perceptions of a failure to adhere to group culture or to traditional job assignment expectations (as also reported by Westmarland, 2001). Panter (2018) argues that may explain why some members of the LGBT+ police community, report different experiences with bias during employment across different assignments.

Due to LGBT+ non-binary conformity, LGBT+ officers are frequently perceived as a direct threat to socialised perceptions of occupational 'masculine' and 'feminine' job performance expectations (see: Panter, 2018 and McCarthy, 2013). Panter (Ibid.) argues that an assignment that is perceived to be hypermasculine in nature, relies upon additional rigid social regulation of how women and men express their gender and how they act in those roles. She argues that this may explain why gay men and trans women report higher incidents of occupational bias and acceptance within certain job roles compared to masculine of centre lesbian women and trans men (Ibid.).

1.4 Pay and rewards

Reform of police pay and rewards in the modern era, began in 1963 with the publication of the report of the Sheehy Inquiry (Loveday, 2013). Sheehy recommended *inter alia* performance-related pay and incentives for officers working in the roles most valued by the public. Since that time, pay reform has frequently been on the Home Office's agenda for policing (Tonge *et al*, 2010). Competence-related payments to officers were introduced in 2003 and this scheme was quickly followed by others that rewarded officers in priority policing roles (such as firearms units) (Tonge *et al*, Ibid.). Discretionary additional role-related payments to officers were significantly curtailed and then largely ended following the Winsor Review of policing in 2011 (Winsor, 2012).

1.4 Summary

Issues of culture, race, identity, gender, and sexuality in policing, have been scrutinised and researched for many years. Though positive values and behaviours (embodied *inter alia* in loyalty, teamwork and personal sacrifice) may endure; matters of identity, inequality, unfairness and exclusion are central to any critical analysis of the policing milieu in the modern era. Particularly in the context of relations between the service's dominant white heterosexual majority and minority groups. Kanter's theory that the social dynamic shifts at the 'tipping point' (when the minority group makes up at least 15 percent of the population)

is worthy of further examination. Relevant to this analysis is that, as of 31st March 2022, 8.1 percent of the workforce identified as a member of an ethnic minority group and that in 2020, 9.8 percent of AFOs were women. However, it also should be acknowledged that in March 2022, 33.5 percent of officers in the PSEW were women and, because of the uplift in officer numbers, the proportion of women in the service continues to increase. Kanter's theory provides a useful basis for further discussion even if it may not be a magic formula to solve policing's ills in this regard.

Chapter 2: Firearms team demographics, occupational discourses, and nuances of police sub-culture(s)

This chapter will examine those components of police culture that are structurally and dynamically unique within armed units. Additionally, it focuses on potential barriers to increasing minority representation in firearms teams.

2.1 Authorised Firearms Officers (AFOs)

Figure 2.1 shows that in 2021 there was a total of 6,643 AFOs and Specialist Firearms Officers (SFOs) in England and Wales (Home Office, 2021). AFOs make up the bulk of that number. Ordinarily, they patrol in Armed Response Vehicles (ARVs) as support for everyday operational policing. AFOs qualify for the role by undergoing training and passing the National Handgun Qualification Shoot. Though they may also be trained on other weapons (College of Policing, 2014).



Figure 2.1 - Armed Officers in England and Wales 2008-2021

Source – Home Office, 2002

SFOs are AFOs who have undergone advanced training to respond to hostage-taking and other high-risk situations. Recently, the role of Counter-Terrorist Specialist Firearms Officer (CTSFOs) has been introduced. CTSFOs receive additional training to respond to organised crime groups and terrorist incidents. CTSFOs also provide training to AFOs and SFOs (Clark-Derby, 2019).

Firearms teams lack the diversity of mainstream police units. Jones *et al.*, (2020) reported that in the 35 forces that responded to their inquiry, there was a total of 29 black AFOs. Fourteen forces did not have an AFO from a minority group (Ibid.). The researchers also assessed AFO training. They reported that the pass rate for Black officers was 10 percent lower than it was for White candidates. They also reported evidence of a gender imbalance in their sample.

Data extracted from the NPCC report 'National Armed Policing Demographic Data for 2021' and made available to the research team, indicated further gender and minority population group imbalances. Ninety-five percent of firearms instructors were male; 98 percent of CTSFOs were male; and 94 percent of ARV officers were male. In 2021, on average, male AFOs stayed twice as long in post as female AFOs. In terms of the proportion of officers from minority groups, the data provided by the police was similar to that collected by Jones *et al* (2020). Of 2353 AFOs surveyed in their study, only 7 percent identified as a member of a minority group.

2.2 Firearms culture

Researchers have contended that the creation of numerous specialist units is synonymous with the creation of discrete subcultures (see for example, Loftus, 2009). Some view this as no more than adaptation as officers move from omni-competence in mainstream policing to specialised departments (see for example Cockcroft, 2019; Loftus, 2009; Chan, 1996; and Manning 1993). See Roberts and Innes (2009) for an example of this adaptation by officers joining a firearms team. Glomseth and Gottschalk (2009) studied the culture of specialist police units in Norway and found that subcultures emerged naturally from the tasks the units performed.

Other researchers have noted that the culture of police firearms work developed as a product of the dangerous and stressful environments officers encountered daily in their professional lives (Garabarino *et al.*, 2012 and Marques-Quinteiro, 2013). Kraska and Kappeler (1997) identified a distinct militaristic culture, in police Special Weapons and Tactics (SWAT) teams in the USA. They reported officers' preoccupation with danger, their pleasure in engaging in paramilitary activities, and their perception that they were an elite form of the police.

Dodge *et al.*, (2011) examined perceived physical barriers, skills, and expectations that arise from the forms of hyper-masculinity and male camaraderie within SWAT teams. Examining 202 American police officers' opinions about women on SWAT, they found that male officers were more likely to believe that females lacked the both the strength and the skills needed to serve on tactical units. They concluded that SWAT teams were 'entrenched in masculinity' (2010 p.707). The researchers argued that the male officers resented the presence of women on SWAT teams because they represented threats to the exclusivity of the assignment, male camaraderie, and the subculture of the unit itself (Ibid.).

Mackay (2016) examined female experiences of their assignments to a UK firearms team. She saw social identity theory in action. The team was 'close knit [and] professional' but some female officers saw themselves as outsiders; isolated from the main group of male officers who socialised together and trained together in the gym to create what one respondent called 'an unspoken bond'. Women officers perceived this dynamic as reinforcing an unacknowledged hierarchy that, in turn, led to women being treated unfairly (for example, men put their friends first when overtime or annual leave was requested) (op. cit., p.72). Mackay noted that women believed there were unwritten rules that only became apparent when they were judged to have transgressed them. Women believed that they had to work harder than men to be accepted by the in-group. She reported that one of her respondents said that women had to be a part of the 'male officers' clique' to progress in firearms (op. cit., p.78). She concluded that the outward appearance of a supportive and inclusive workplace also could be a smoke screen for a more negative and secretive culture and that supervisors were key to effecting real change (Ibid.).

27

Also, in a UK firearms team setting, Cain (2011) found further evidence of social identity theory in action with in-group/outsider behaviour manifest in AFO elitism. Cain observed that rather than being perceived as elitist, membership of the firearms team brought status and was an important determinant of members' social identity for individuals (Ibid.). She argued that though to many (particularly women) elitism was an unattractive quality, some outsiders were drawn to the team because of its elitist reputation and its difficultly to get into (op. cit., p.147). Significantly in the context of this study, Cain noted that women who adapted to the firearms subculture, for example by emphasising masculine aspects of their identity (some of Cain's female respondents referred to themselves as 'tomboys') were well regarded and accepted by the in-group (op, cit., p.168). She observed that the women officers in her sample identified themselves 'first as firearms officers, secondly as policewomen and thirdly as women (op. cit., p.164).

Arguably, Cain's research adds weight to Rabe-Hemp's (2009) observation that female officers identify as police officers first, and as women second. That is to say that the women observed by Cain and by Rabe-Hemp, seemed to reject normative stereotypes of femininity in ways that broadened their work opportunities but reinforced traditional gender differences. That is an interesting observation that merits further attention but it may not be generalisable to all women officers. For example, Martin (1999) found that policewomen accepted their existence in male-dominated work cultures while emphasising their femininity (passivity, emotions, etc.).

In the modern era, researchers have gained high levels of access to the police and, increasingly, empiricism is the norm in policing research. Over the course of 22 'ride-alongs' with ARV crews in two English police forces, Clark-Darby (2019) observed a distinct firearms culture with officers enjoying the challenge and excitement the work brought. In the context of female underrepresentation on firearms teams, he argued (as Westmarland had done in 2001) that men's masculinity is reinforced by their cultural environment. Clark-Darby posited that a critical factor was that there were not enough women to interrupt the cycle of reinforcement. He argued that as 'the cycle continues; ...for women on the outside, it becomes less attractive to want to apply for that unit in particular' (op. cit., p.126). Dodge *et al.* (2010) US study assessed mainstream officers' perceptions of SWAT teams. Female officers were more likely to believe that a SWAT subculture would exclude them, while male officers were more likely to believe that women should not be on SWAT teams at all. Female officers reported on the macho subculture; the researchers concluded that the 'intrinsic masculine nature of the assignment' would discourage them from applying to a SWAT assignment (op. cit., p.226). A large proportion of female officers in their sample said that they believed that women welcome in the boy's club (op. cit., p.227). The reluctance of women officers to apply for firearms assignments previously has been reported by others (see for example: Simon, 2019; Coulson, 2006; Sargent, 1995; and Coffey, 1991).

2.3 Structural barriers to recruitment to firearms teams

2.3.1 Shift work and family life

Babcock and Laschever (2009) found that a lack of family friendly policies in maledominated organisations can inhibit women from career advancement. Todak *et al.* argued that women with children and elderly dependents preferred the patrol role because of the unpredictable nature of firearms assignments. They preferred to 'accumulate seniority to earn rights to the best shifts' (2021 p.660). Several studies have concluded that due to a lack of childcare assistance and family-oriented policies, women have chosen not to apply for promotions or assignments to specialist units (Todak *et al.*, 2022 and 2021; Charlesworth and Robertson, 2012). Dodge *et al.* found that regardless of the tactics employed by some caregivers, 'promotions to leadership positions and special assignments, particularly SWAT teams, remained elusive' (2011; p.702).

2.3.2 Physical health

Historically police officers, as an occupational group, have reported higher incidences of musculoskeletal injuries, with lower back pain being the condition reported most frequently (Nabell *et al.*, 2007). Burton *et al.* (1996) found that heavy ballistic protection vests and equipment belts were significant causes of musculoskeletal injuries. West's (2019) study found that male and female bodies responded differently to load carriage and that manifested itself in posture. Kyoumg An's (2010) study found that female officers wearing unisex ballistic vests experienced constant pressure at the bust causing discomfort and a reduced range of motion. Niemczyk et al. (2020) concluded that bras and ballistic vests are

mutually incompatible in their functions. Anatomically contoured ballistic vests provide more comfort and better protection for women (Niemczyk *et al.*, 2020; West, 2019; and Mahbub *et al.*, 2014).

Bradley *et al.* (2021), surveyed 96 UK firearms officers to identify health and well-being concerns. Respondents reported that their specialist equipment (such as, body armour, firearms, and so on) placed strain on their musculoskeletal system. That strain was exacerbated by repetitive dynamic mechanical loading, prolonged static loading, and localised stress during firearm handling. Similar issues have been reported by: Vera Jimenez *et al.*, 2020; Larsen *et al.*, 2018; Campbell et al., 2013; and Ramstrand *et al.*, 2016); and Larsen *et al.* (2018).

Bradley *et al.*, (Ibid.) found that in 12 months, 31 percent of their sample reported an injury. The most common was muscle strain but severe injuries (for example, trapped nerves, prolapsed discs, torn ligaments, ruptured muscles) accounted for 29 percent of the reports (Ibid.). Male officers reported a significantly higher injury rate than female officers with females' injuries more likely to be caused by equipment overuse or prolonged sitting in a vehicle.

2.3.3 Mental health

Purba and Demou reported that police officers are exposed to higher levels of psychological stress than the general population (2019). Planche *et al.*, (2019) noted that the stress was even higher in specialist tactical units due to their occupational demands. Demou *et al.*, (2020) found that specialist firearms officers routinely face challenges that uniquely affect mental health. Those include operational trauma, job role responsibilities, working hours and heavy workloads. Disclosing mental health problems has been described as 'career destroying' because of the inherent cynicism, lack of empathy, and macho culture of the workforce (Bell and Eski, 2016 p.95). Contreras-Negretti argued that a pervasive hegemonic masculinity normalises a 'silence of distress' (2019 p.11). Arguably, this could be magnified within firearms teams.

2.3.3 Physiological factors and shooting performance

In the PSEW, armed policing is an exclusive assignment reserved for experienced, skilled and highly proficient officers in the peak of health. AFOs must maintain their fitness to nationally recognised standards throughout their assignment. If officers fall short of those standards, their AFO duties are restricted until they can prove their fitness for the work. In that context, gender and physiological differences between officers may be significant. Studies have indicated, variously, that differences in physiology affect trigger finger endurance and shoulder strength. In turn, that affects shooting performance negatively (see: Brown *et al.*, 2012; Orr *et al.*, 2021; Muirhead *et al.*, 2019; Kayihan *et al.*, 2013; and Rodd *et al.*, 2010;

Anderson and Plecas, (2000) and Morelli *et al.*, (2017) found that officers with larger hands and longer trigger fingers had greater grip strength. Studies by Muirhead *et al.*, (2019) and Orr *et al.*, (2017) found that officers with greater strength had a smoother and more controlled trigger pull during shooting. Blaskovits *et al.* (2016) and Brown *et al.* (2021) attributed the lower levels of shooting performance of females (compared to males) to differential grip strength. The researchers found that the combination of heavy trigger weights and the absence of minimum grip strength requirements resulted in poor shooting performance. Though it was not the researchers' intention, what could be interpreted as a gender stereotype has been challenged by other researchers.

Leyk *et al.* (2007) found that female performance was comparable to male officers when grip strengths were equivalent. They argued that grip strength could be improved by increasing strength training. Brzycki's examination of male and female world-record performances in powerlifting found that the gender differences in strength were not as significant when body weight was taken into consideration (2004 p,16). Brown *et al.,* (Ibid.) recommended that those with lower grip strength should be given the opportunity to improve through training. Moreover, that police agencies should consider reducing trigger pull weight to accommodate all armed officers.

2.3.4 AFO uniforms

It has been argued that workplace uniforms are a crucial marker for workplace identity (Strand *et al.*, 2022). Strand *et al*. (Ibid.) argue that uniforms make visible those who may

otherwise not fit into a homogenous collective. Often, emphasis is placed on how the uniform is worn and how it fits, which may dictate whether an individual belongs to a uniform collective, or subgroup. Strand argues that this consequently and perhaps unintentionally may exclude women or other bodies 'not defined as the 'standard" male' (op. cit., p.4). Arguably, uniforms do not only influence police culture and social interactions; their visual attractiveness and aesthetics influence recruitment. Panter (2018) argued that gendered police uniforms, as opposed to unisex uniforms, could hinder police recruitment of LGBT+ identities. In Panter's study (Ibid.), fit and function issues were topics of discussion for officers across all the police assignments and agencies she surveyed. Even small visual deviations from the dress code could contribute to the identification and magnification of gender differences in ways that limited acceptance and cohesion. This was particularly true in hypermasculine environments (Panter, Ibid.).

Aside from their practical elements, AFO uniforms are signifiers of difference. In Canada, Blaskovits *et al.*, (2022) assessed public perceptions of a variety of police uniforms. They found that officers dressed in tactical gear were more prepared, stronger, and more confident than the same officers dressed in standard patrol uniforms. Conversely, the same group of officers was perceived as more intimidating, aggressive, more prejudiced, uncaring, rude, and corruptible when compared to officer in patrol uniform.

Police officers' perceptions of the uniforms worn by fellow officers seem to have received little attention. One such study was conducted in Australia in 2022. The research participants were members of Queensland Police (Simpson and Sargeant, 2022.The researchers, found that officers who identified with a 'warrior-like' image of the police were more likely to favour military-type uniforms characterised by dark colours and load-bearing vests rather than uniformed polo-style shirts with no vests. The researchers found that officers wearing a polo shirt without an external vest were perceived as less competent and less professional by police colleagues (Simpson and Sargeant, Ibid.). They argued that a police vest may be an important part of police officer identity (Ibid.).

Both female and male officers, have reported dissatisfaction with traditional uniforms designed for the male 'standard body' (see for example, Coltman *et al.*, 2021 and Niemczyk

et al., 2020). Standard uniforms may be less fitting and less functional for female bodies, or non-standard male bodies.

2.3.5 Weapons and holsters

AFOs firearms normatively are visible to the public for practical (easy access when needed) and symbolic (visible sign of authority and power) reasons (Nhan, 2019). Nhan argues that visibility comes at 'the cost of strained relationships with the community' (op. cit., p.72). Yesberg *et al.*, (2021) found that in their study that the public reacted more negatively to armed police than to their unarmed colleagues. Respondents rated armed officers as unapproachable and less trustworthy.

There also is the dynamic known as the 'weapons effect'; a phenomenon in which the simple presence of a weapon in a social situation is presumed to cause people to behave more aggressively (Berkowitz and LePage, 1976). Other researchers have criticised Berkowitz and LePage's work (and questioned whether the weapons effect exists) because of their questionable methodology and the challenges that other researchers seemed to have faced in replicating their experiments but Benjamin concluded, on the basis of his meta-analysis of the extant weapons effect research, that there is 'tentative evidence that the mere presence of weapons does influence aggressive thoughts and appraisals' (2019 p.6). Ariel *et al.*, (2019) found that City of London Police officers who were carried Tasers were significantly more likely to be assaulted by suspects than officers without Tasers.

From a kinematics standpoint, studies have indicated that weapons carried in standard hip holsters affect performance, decrease mobility, and may be the cause of back pain (Larsen *et al*, 2019 and 2016). Larsen *et al*. (2016) found that occupational loads carried by police have a significant effect on gait kinematics and kinetics; discomfort while driving vehicles was increased when a standard hip belt system was worn. Conversely, pressures in the lower back were reduced when wearing a load-bearing vest and relocating items away from the waist (Ibid.). Campbell *et al.*, (2013) argue that as there is no difference between hip and thigh holsters in terms of shooting performance and pistol draw times, AFOs' comfort should be given greater priority.

2.3.6 Headwear and other kit

There is scant evidence that AFO headwear or any other piece of kit limit the appeal of the role to potential recruits. There seems broad acceptance of the fact that there a balance must be achieved between cultural and religious needs and officers' safety and wellbeing, Hughes (2010) reported that some forces had been able to make accommodations that do not upset that balance but, at least in 2010, there was no protective headwear for AFOs other than the standard issue. There is even less research in this context on respirators, facial hair and religious belief requirements, or on medical conditions such as (e.g., pseudofolliculitis barbae (which disproportionately affects Black identities). Studies on facial hair and usage of FPP3 and N-95 masks have shown that beard length is a factor in fit and function (see De-Ynigo-Mojado *et al.*, 2021 and Prince *et al.*, 2021).

2.4 Police shootings

Fatal police shootings are rare events (Manolias and Hyatt-Williams, 1993). However, as McFarlane and Amin (2021 p.1777) highlight, 'the circumstances...are often amplified by high-levels of mainstream and social media reporting; causing significant public concern'. In some cases, that also has escalated community tensions, damaging police and community relations and has even led to civil disorder. That certainly was true in the cases of Jean Charles de Menezes (2005), Azelle Rodney (2005), and Mark Duggan (2011).

Individual police officers have no special status in law when they discharge a firearm. Their conduct is governed by the same law as any other citizen. That means they have no legal protections if the degree of force they have used is unreasonable in the circumstances as they believed them to be (Clapham, 2017). Under the Police Reform Act 2002, police forces in England and Wales have a statutory duty to refer to the Independent Office for Police Conduct (IOPC), a death during or following police contact where there is an allegation or indication that police contact, directly or indirectly, contributed to the death. The IOPC investigates the circumstances of all referrals and decides whether to investigate the death. Between 2018 and 2019 there were three fatal shootings that were investigated independently by the IOPC (IOPC, 2021). In none of those cases, was an officer prosecuted.

2.5 Summary

The literature confirms the existence of a distinct culture in police firearms teams. In itself, that is natural and unproblematic. A positive and cohesive organisational culture is important in terms of performance, officers' job satisfaction and staff retention. It also is a significant factor in group identity. Historically, like the police institution of which they are a part, firearms teams have been made up of white men. As the demographics of Britain and the PSEW are changing, firearms teams are evolving and their membership is changing but women are underrepresented in firearms teams. The teams have only a few members who identify with a minority group. The teams are less representative of the communities they serve than the PSEW, which is itself, not yet representative of the diversity of Britain's communities in the modern era.

The extant literature suggests that firearms culture, which some perceive to be macho (gendered) and exclusive, is a barrier to recruitment. Particularly to the recruitment of women. The other notable barriers to recruitment that are reported in the literature, is what potential applicants see as the challenge of achieving a healthy work/home life balance. This particularly is an issue for those with caring responsibilities. In terms of retention, there is some evidence of women's dissatisfaction with kit (particularly the fit of body armour) and of resistance of the male in-group to them as incomers; manifest in the perception that the former were disadvantaged as a result. The fact that on average, male AFOs stay twice as long in post as female AFOs may be relevant in that context.

Chapter 3: Methodology

This chapter explains the methodology underpinning the research design. It is structured as follows: first, the design of the overall project is described; second the research aims and objectives are outlined; and finally, the data analysis is explained.

Note that ethical approval for this study was granted by Liverpool John Moore's University Ethics Committee (21/LCP/012) and (22/LCP/010). As a condition of that approval, all participants consented to participate in the study on the proviso that their contributions were anonymous. The research team has respected their wishes. Where participants' contributions are included, the participant is referred to by a number assigned by the research team (and by a description of their role if that can be attributed).

3.1 Research design principles

Both quantitative data and qualitative data were collected. An interpretive approach was used to conduct an in-depth exploration of the Diversity and Inclusion in Firearms National Group's brief, to better understand the underrepresentation of minority groups in firearms teams.

3.1.1 Research context

Despite the widespread recognition that the 43 forces who make up the Police Service of England and Wales (PSEW) need to effect change to better reflect the communities they serve; the workforce continues overwhelmingly to be white and male (Home Office, 2022). Though, since 2010, there has been a gradual upward trend in the proportion of officers who identify with an ethnic minority group (excluding a white minority), on 31st March 2022, White officers still made up 91.9 percent of the workforce. On that date, there were 11,053 officers from minority ethnic groups (excluding white minorities), making up 8.1 percent of the workforce. Breaking that figure down further, Black officers made up 1.3 percent of the total workforce, Asian officers 3.7 percent, and those identifying as a belonging to a Mixed ethnic group or another ethnic group 3.1 percent. There were 46,955 female police officers, making up 33.5 percent of officers in the service (Home Office, Ibid.).
Statistics on the demographics of firearms teams and authorised firearms officers (AFOs) were not readily available to the research team but, drawing on the work of Jones *et al.,* in 2020, just 29 out of 6584 AFOs identified as Black/Black British. That figure represented 0.4 percent of the AFO population compared with 7.3 percent of the PSEW workforce (Home Office, 2020). Notably, 14 of the 43 Home Office forces did not have a single ethnic minority AFO. The percentage of female AFOs was 9.8 percent compared with 31 percent of the wider population (Home Office, op. cit., p.27).

3.1.2 Research question and aims

Seeking to better understand the underrepresentation of minority groups and to encourage more female officers to consider joining firearms teams, the Diversity and Inclusion in Firearms National Group (DIFAG) of the National Police Chiefs Council (NPCC) commissioned a Liverpool John Moores University research team to examine: (i) police cultural perceptions of armed units; (ii) the ways in which those perceptions impact diversity within firearms roles; (iii) barriers to recruitment to firearm roles; and (iv) the extent to which issues associated with uniforms, equipment, or training have an impact on achieving an inclusive and representative armed workforce.

The research team framed those requirements in the research question, 'Why are minority groups underrepresented in police firearms teams?' and in a set of research aims. Those were to:

- 1. critically examine the perceptions of firearms teams' culture among two groups: current and former AFOs; and non-AFOs;
- 2. critically assess cultural barriers to improving inclusion and diversity within firearms teams;
- 3. critically assess AFO practice to determine whether elements of the role exclude or limit diversity;
- 4. critically examine whether there are any aspects of uniform, equipment, or training that impact upon diversity and inclusion in firearms teams.

3.1.3 Research instruments

The team collected research data in three ways. First, via a comprehensive review of relevant literature (including secondary data extrapolated from a PSEW survey, carried out in 2020 in the north-west region). Second, using an online survey, advertised across the

PSEW, to collect officers' views and experiences. Third, via focus groups that allowed the team to engage with AFOs and to delve deeper into the survey responses. All data were sorted and coded to enable them to be analysed thematically in the context of the existing literature.

3.2 Research environment and sample

Statistics on the demographics of firearms teams and authorised firearms officers (AFOs) were not readily available to the research team but, drawing on the work of Jones *et al.,* in 2020, just 29 out of 12,572 AFOs identified as Black/Black British. That figure represented 0.2 percent of the AFO population compared with 7.3 percent of the PSEW workforce (Home Office, 2020). Notably, 14 of the 43 Home Office forces did not have a single ethnic minority AFO. The percentage of female AFOs was 9.8 percent compared with 31 percent of the wider population (Home Office, op. cit., p.27).

A total of 4,007 respondents completed the survey, which was open to all officers and staff regardless of role. Respondents self-identified as 'Male' (n=2330, 58 percent), 'Female' (n=835, 21 percent), or 'Other' (842, 21 percent). To facilitate statistical analysis, this third group included anyone who did not identify as 'Male' or 'Female' and those who preferred not to disclose their gender. Hence, the larger number than might be expected. In terms of ethnicity, 3076 (78 percent) of survey respondents identified as 'White'; 96 (2 percent) identified as 'Asian'; 34 (1 percent) as 'Black'; 94 (2 percent) as 'Mixed'; and 707 (18 percent) as 'Other'. This 'Other' grouping included those who did not disclose their ethnicity. All focus group participants were 'White'.

Five focus groups were made up solely of self-selected AFOs. The contributions of 11 PSEW officers and two Ministry of Defence Police (MDP) officers were recorded. Six respondents were Male and seven were Female. The survey was completed by officers and staff across the PSEW, and by officers of the National Crime Agency, British Transport Police, the Civil Nuclear Constabulary, the MDP, Police Scotland, and the Police Service of Northern Ireland. Of those respondents, 1520 (38 percent) were current or former AFOs; 2487 respondents (62 percent) were not (and never had been) employed in the AFO role.

To ensure that all viewpoints were represented, and no group was excluded from the research sample, the survey collected data about the sexual identity of respondents; 2707 survey respondents (68 percent) identified as 'straight'; 104 (3 percent) as 'lesbian/gay'; and 1196 (30 percent) as 'other'. Again, the 'other' grouping may be higher than one may expect because it includes respondents who identified as: bisexual; aromantic; asexual; fluid; pansexual; questioning; and queer. It also included all respondents who did not disclose their sexual identity (by far, the largest proportion of responses in this group). Focus group members were not asked to state their sexual identity.

3.3 Data analysis and emergent themes

Quantitative data were extracted from the survey, compiled and sorted using a statistical package for the social sciences for descriptive analysis (SPSS). Once data was downloaded, it was coded into numerical values for the purpose of frequency analysis (Elliott et al, 2006). Respondents were given the option of including an additional free text response. Many respondents chose to do so, and their contributions provided rich qualitative data that was a significant aid to understanding and, ultimately, to answering the research question. Focus group sessions were audio recorded and then transcribed verbatim by the researchers. The transcripts went through a rigorous process of checking against the digital record to ensure accuracy. All the research data were analysed thematically. They were categorised and coded to enable a systematic analysis not only of research participants' experiences but also the meaning of those experiences in the context of the research question. To evidence the rigour of this process, researchers adopted Braun and Clark's (2006) '6 step' framework.

The data collected were analysed thematically. The following themes emerged from that process: AFO demographic and the attractiveness of the role; career progression; work/life balance; culture and representativeness; kit and equipment; and pay and rewards.

3.4 Summary

The chapter described the context of the research, set out the research questions and aims, and explained the methods used to collect, filter, and analyse data. It identified the themes

that emerged from that process. Data relevant to those themes are first reported and then discussed in subsequent chapters.

Chapter 4: Research Findings

This chapter reports the research teams' findings thematically. Given the continuing dominance of the White Male demographic in the target group, the PSEW and other police departments/agencies in Great Britain and Northern Ireland with armed officers, and the relatively small numbers of respondents in groups outside of that core demographic, inferring every possible variation in meaning from the data collected was no easy task. Ultimately, although respondents could select from a much wider range of options, survey responses were grouped using the labels: 'Male', 'Female, 'Other'; 'White', 'Asian', 'Black', 'Other'; Straight, Gay/Lesbian; Other. In the narrative that follows, where the analysis of the data suggested that a more nuanced explanation of a response is required, that explanation is included.

4.1 Theme 1: AFO demographic and the attractiveness of the role

4.1.1 Officers physical health and fitness

The shift in the demographic noted by many respondents in this study is not yet reflected in the literature nor is it evident from the quantitative data collected in this study. Of 1520 AFO respondents, 1470 identified as 'White' (97 percent) and just 107 (7 percent) as 'Female'.

or disability which has lasted or is expected to last at least 12 months?							
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent		
Valid	Yes	425	10.6	10.6	10.6		
	No	2818	70.3	70.3	80.9		
	Prefer not to say	764	19.1	19.1	100.0		
	Total	4007	100.0	100.0			
Missing	System	1	.0				
Total		4008	100.0				

Table 4.1 – physical health (all respondents)

Are your day-to-day activities limited because of a health problem

Survey respondents were asked whether they suffered from health problems or disabilities, which had lasted, or were expected to last, at least 12 months. The research team inferred that would preclude respondents from undertaking AFO duties, which require a higher level of fitness than officers in mainstream policing. If that inference is correct, up to 11 percent of the sample (425 respondents) would be unable to carry out AFO duties regardless of their career aspirations. That figure could be even higher; 764 respondents (19 percent of the sample) preferred not to comment on their health/disabilities.

AFO work requires high levels of fitness and motivation. Survey respondents were asked to comment on the proposition that they would be concerned about the enhanced fitness test that AFOs must pass to be employed in the role.



I would be concerned about passing the enhanced fitness test?

Figure 4.1 – Concerns about passing the EFT (sorted by AFO/Non AFO and gender)

As Figure 4.1 shows, just a few AFO respondents expressed concerns about their ability to past the enhanced fitness test but a high proportion of Non AFOs strongly agreed or agreed with the proposition. That figure was highest by far in the Female category; 66 percent compared to 33 percent in the Male category and 37 percent in the Prefer Not to Say

category. A Female AFO said the test was 'a massive obstacle to females joining the department'. They called for it to be 'gender and age specific'.

4.1.2 Interest in becoming an AFO

Survey respondents were asked to comment on the proposition that they were interested in becoming a firearms officer.



Figure 4.2 – Interest in becoming a firearms officer (Male/Female/PNTS)

As Figure 4.2 shows, more Males reported that they were interested in the role than females; 49 percent of Male respondents strongly agreed or agreed with the proposition, compared with 31 percent of Females. Notably, 56 percent of Females, compared with of 36 percent Males, strongly disagreed or disagreed with the proposition. A Male AFO seemed to sum up the views of many respondents when they said that the work did not suit everyone; they did not believe it possible for the service to make a career in Firearms 'appealing for all'.

Figure 4.3 shows that when responses to the same question were sorted by ethnicity, there were some differences between groups. That is acknowledged. It also should be

acknowledged that the small numbers of responses in the Mixed, Asian, Black, and Other groups, makes interpreting those differences in a meaningful way, difficult. Whether there is a need for further analysis of this data depends on a value judgement that cannot be made by the research team.



I am interested in becoming a Firearms Officer

Figure 4.3 – Interest in becoming a firearms officer (by ethnicity)

Survey respondents selected factors which motivated or demotivated them in their consideration of a posting to a firearms team (from lists provided by the research team). The highest ranked choices in each case are shown in Tables 4.2 and 4.3. Popular choices emphasised positive aspects of the role such as, the opportunity to meet a new professional challenge. As Table 4.2 shows, respondents said they valued the prospect of working in a fun, exciting, positive, team environment that tested their professional and physical abilities and allowed them to prove their mettle. However, when respondents were given a free choice of stating what attracted them to the role, 158 Male Non AFOs said that officers' primary motivation was to escape the daily drudge (as they saw it) of response policing. Two

Females and nine members of the 'Other' group cited the same wish to 'escape' response policing.

Table 4.2 - Motivators to	join a firearms team ((all Non AFO survey respondents)
---------------------------	------------------------	----------------------------------

Motivator	Number of Responses
Role seen as presenting a professional challenge	2063
Day-to-day job activities look exciting/fun	1841
Opportunity to obtain certification in firearms/advanced	1678
driving	
Training looks fun/exciting	1677
Previous military experience or firearm experience	1640
Physicality of the training/assignment	1472
To be a part of the culture of firearms	1315
To be a part of a team	1252

Table 4.3 – Demotivators to join a firearms team (all Non AFO survey respondents)

Demotivators	Number of Responses
Scrutiny following a police shooting	2441
Not wishing to carry a firearm	2072
Role too physically demanding	1513
Training is too difficult and/or long	1503
Culture/reputation of firearms units	1436
Too much responsibility	1408
Selection process too competitive	1014

As Table 4.3 shows, a sizeable number of respondents, 2072 (just over half of all those surveyed) do not want to carry a firearm; this is a key finding from the survey. Respondents *inter alia* see the role as carrying too much responsibility and as being physically too demanding.

4.1.3 Scrutiny following a police shooting

Notably, 2441 respondents selected 'scrutiny following a police shooting' as the greatest demotivator, or disincentive, to considering joining a firearms team and this meant it was the highest ranked of all selections. The following were typical of responses that expressed respondents' concerns about how they might be treated following a police shooting: 'The potential life changing consequences and stress if you were to shoot someone is a big factor in putting people off' (Male AFO); 'There is far too little support of firearms officers following a shooting... That is the sole reason I would never join a firearms unit' (Female Non AFO); 'Until firearms officers receive more protection when actually discharging a firearm as they are taught to do then officers will be discouraged from joining' (second Female Non AFO); 'The force looks like it supports firearm discharges but once it goes wrong the person at the bottom will always be blamed' (Male Non AFO); The physical risks of being a firearms officer are acceptable to me. The risk of hounding from the press, the IOPC and others in the event of a death or injury are not' (second Male Non AFO); and 'Street cops don't want to apply as they know as soon as there is an incident the job will drop them like a stone' (third Male Non AFO).

4.1.4 Training environment

The topic of training attracted a sizeable number of responses; both as a motivator (1677 responses) and as a demotivator (1503 responses). Though many respondents in all groups seemed to relish the opportunity to participate in physical activities in a team environment, many Male and Female AFO respondents complained about the persistence of an 'old school', militaristic mentality in the initial training environment.

The following quotes from Female AFOs help capture some of the tensions in that environment. One said they found the training environment, 'very intimidating; macho'. A second said that trainers did not provide support for women and a third that firearms trainers perpetuated a 'jerk' mentality. A fourth said that firearms training was 'toxic and it remains the same today as it was 10 years ago'. A fourth said that the inspector rank was limited in its ability to change culture because they also were 'assessed by trainers who hold so much power to keep old school bullying practices in place'. They said, 'Bullying from instructors is commonplace and accepted' and 'sexist behaviour from senior ranks is ignored'. A fifth said, 'The day-to-day role does not match the training expectations... the training curriculum gives trainers the licence to "beast" recruits. Not acceptable... and puts people off applying as they hear horror stories from previous applicants'.

The following quotes from Male AFOs evidence that they shared their female colleagues' concerns. One said that the training environment in their force was 'bullying, misogynistic, and toxic'. A second said the Macho culture among firearms trainers was 'difficult to deal with'. A third said 'Firearms instructors... treat you in a disgraceful way'. A fourth said that trainers' teaching methods, as much as their attitudes, were a 'significant blocker' to officers wanting to join the unit; 'training methods need to adapt to be more instructive and supportive'. A fifth said trainers needed to establish a true learning environment; they said that trainers should hold a professional teaching qualification. A sixth said that the culture and reputation of the training department was a 'big barrier'; 'Much more emphasis was needed on how trainers deliver feedback and ... teach in a constructive manner'.

There was some dissent from these views; though it was in the minority. A Male AFO said, 'Instructors may at times have been critical, but that is an important part of their role, they are training people in the use of firearms and tactics where things must be done correctly from a safety point of view'.

4.2 Theme 2: Career progression

Opinion was divided on the proposition that joining a firearms team will benefit a respondent's career progression. As Figure 4.4 shows, just 33 percent of Male respondents and 20 percent of Female respondents strongly agreed or agreed with the proposition. Proportionately more Female respondents than Male respondents strongly disagreed or disagreed with the proposition (49 percent compared with 33 percent).



Figure 4.4 – Career benefits of joining a firearms team

This topic did not attract as much commentary as others. A Male former AFO said that they had left the unit because of the lack of opportunities for promotion. They said, 'If there were opportunities to progress my career ... I would have stayed there but quite simply there are not'. A Male AFO said that there was a lack of promotion or development opportunities and therefore no career progression. A Female AFO said that forces should look to retain officers on promotion. That also would have the benefit of closing gaps in the representation of Female and other minority groups in armed policing. The same Female AFO said that their unit had lost five Female AFOs on promotion in a single year. Many survey respondents and some members of the focus groups highlighted retention of Female AFOs as an ongoing issue.

Some AFOs reported that the dominant demographic of the role was changing rapidly. Focus group respondents, highly experienced AFOs, said that the traditional demographic of teams was changing. Joining firearms was no longer a case of filling 'dead men's shoes' - the days of officers 'joining and never leaving' were a thing of the past because there are 'no career Bobbies anymore' and it is less attractive compared to other opportunities the service offers. Therefore, there is a 'fight to find skilled labour' (AFO supervisor).

48

A second AFO supervisor said that the supply of new recruits was limited because all forces/agencies were 'fishing for firearms officers from the same pond'. That meant that AFOs who saw an opportunity in another force, sometimes were encouraged to take it; creating a 'robbing Peter to pay Paul' dynamic.

Taking a rather different tack, a Male AFO said that they had begun to see that the service was recognising that experienced AFOs were 'some of the best cops' and therefore, 'good promotion material'. They said, 'firearms has traditionally not been a place where you felt you could develop your career but that is starting to change in ways that make firearms more attractive [to the service as a source of potential supervisors/managers]'. Of course, the corollary to that was that it was 'compromising units' capacity'.

A Male AFO suggested that the service should consider fast-track recruitment schemes as recently had been trialled in respect of detective recruitment. A second Male AFO said that in some forces, new officers are being given the opportunity 'from day one' to have their interest in becoming an AFO in their force, supported. A third Male AFO said that some forces were pursuing a similar policy, in the shape of 'discovery days', with positive results.

4.3 Theme 3: Work/life balance

The AFO role makes extra demands on police officers in terms of their physical fitness and their ability to work long and unsocial hours. Inevitably, that can take a heavy toll on private and on family lives and that was the case for members of all groups who participated in this study. As Figure 4.5 shows, a total of 1159 respondents, strongly agreed or agreed with the proposition that there is a lack of flexible working practice in firearms teams; a total of 667 respondents strongly disagreed or disagreed with the proposition; the greatest number of respondents, 1626, neither agreed nor disagreed with it. As Figure 4.6 shows, respondents in all groups broadly are content with their shift patterns.



There is a lack of flexible working practices associated with being a firearms officer



That is not to say there was no criticism of the work in this context. A Male AFO said that the centralisation of firearms units was problematic; they said that 'if this was split across Force, it would be more appealing to more staff'. A Female AFO said that their pattern was 'appalling', their rest days were 'all over the place and minimal' A second Female AFO said that they believed that more flexible working would help to retain staff in firearms units. A third, said that there were regional variations; it depended on where officers were located. They said that for example, the shift pattern in their force was 'terrible'; they favoured working longer hours (and fewer days).



I would be happy working the shifts required for the role of a firearms officer?

Figure 4.6 – AFO shift work (sorted by AFO/Non AFO and gender)

It is recognised universally that in British society, women carry the out the bulk of child caring responsibilities. Female respondents were disappointed that those needs had not been met or worried that they would not be catered for. A Female AFO said that they had left the AFO role because as a single mother they had found the 12-hour shifts unsustainable (this of course also is germane to the issue of retention). They said that the working pattern was not 'family friendly' and that 'exercising at 5 am just to get something in was not healthy'. They were 'glad they were off the unit'.

It was clear that for some the role was not an option. The following were typical of Female Non AFO responses. One said, 'Now I have young children, I couldn't see the training being possible around childcare needs and the shift pattern doesn't appear to offer the flexibility I have in my [current] role. A second said the location of the bases was incompatible with family life. A third said, 'As mother of four children there is no way could I commit to the hours'. A fourth said, 'Job shares are unheard of, and flexible working is rare. Adverts need to indicate that flexible working could be an option to encourage mothers to apply'. A Non AFO respondent from the Prefer Not to Say group said that women do not work in firearms units because 'bosses won't do work plans for women. They would rather move them out of the unit. Women with children are seen as a liability'. A Female former AFO said, 'I am now a single mother... there is no flexibility to accommodate a balance with home life sadly.

These findings mirror those of the police's own survey of firearms teams in 2020. In that case, one Female AFO respondent said, 'There is no flexibility for working parents and you are regularly kept on past your duty'. A second said, 'I was considering applying for firearms, but I had a baby and I think ... it would be difficult for me to arrange childcare'. A third said, 'I am a mother to a young child. I just don't think it's a role that could fit with my home life'.

4.4 Theme 4: Culture and representativeness

Questions about the culture and representativeness of police firearms units were central to the commission of this study. Many respondents in all the survey's groupings forcefully made the point that the AFO role was/should be achieved on merit with complete disregard of gender, race, ethnicity, or sexual identity. That viewpoint was typified by a Male AFO who said that 'It matters not if you're male or female, gay or straight or what religion you are as long as you are the best person for the role' and by a Male Non AFO who said, 'I don't care if all sections of the community are represented in a Firearms Unit, what's important is that the most capable and effective individuals are recruited. It is better that lives are saved by a non-diverse unit than not saved by a diverse one'. Several survey respondents made the point that the PSEW is not truly representative of society. Therefore, it is almost inevitable that the diversity of its firearms teams would be sub-optimal.

4.4.1 The macho environment

The data collected in this survey demonstrates that firearms units continue to be perceived as male dominated and macho environments (Figures 4.7, 4.8, and 4.9). That seemed to be a live issue for respondents. Certainly, the topic attracted more comments than any of the others explored in this chapter. That the units are Male dominated environments is a matter of fact; that is represented in Figures 4.7 and 4.8. Dictionary definitions of the term machismo (from which the word macho is derived) highlight that it is associated with traditional ideas about male behaviour but for many, in the modern era, the term suggests male dominance and aggression and a belief in men's superiority over women. Few would disagree that it is an undesirable quality in policing.

Some AFOs said that they, personally had not suffered because of the culture. A Female AFO said that in their view the unit had got a 'a bad reputation' for its culture but they had 'always felt included, valued, and part of the team'. A second said that the service had taken 'great steps forward with all aspects of inclusion' over the last 15 years. Another said that their experiences over an extended period had been positive but they acknowledged that firearms teams needed to work on 'certain aspects on inclusion and... need to stamp out the macho, "jobs for boys" attitude'. In their view, women's needs were given insufficient consideration. For example, 'training and development after a female has been off on maternity leave needs work '. This was a point reinforced by a Female former AFO who said, 'My maternity return was difficult, and it appeared easier to side-line [me] to promotion instead of regaining AFO qualification [I was] overlooked for other male colleagues'.



Firearms is a male dominated environment

Figure 4.7 – Firearms is a male dominated environment (All respondents)



Firearms is a male dominated environment

Figure 4.8 – Firearms is a male dominated environment (sorted by AFO/Non AFO and gender)



Figure 4.9 – Firearms unit associated with a macho culture (sorted by AFO/Non AFO and gender)

As Figure 4.9 shows, there is a substantial body of opinion across all gender groups that firearms work is associated with a macho culture. Some differences in agreement with the proposition can be seen when gender and role are factored in; 54 percent of Male AFOs strongly agreed or agreed with it; 68 percent of Male Non AFOs strongly agreed or agreed with it. Notably, 84 percent of Female AFOs and 82 percent of Female Non AFOs strongly agreed or agreed with the proposition.

Some AFOs argued that the macho attitude could, on occasions, translate to discriminatory behaviour. A Female AFO said that AFOs 'see themselves as a brand... [that] is encouraging of the macho sexist culture'. A second Female AFO said that 'not everyone is treated as equals'. A third, said that firearms units are, 'extremely macho and heavily male dominated environments'. Females had to 'fit in' and differences were not accommodated. A fourth also evidenced that women officer had to fit in. If they did not, they would be 'exiled'.

Two AFOs who preferred not to state their gender, added their commentary on the issue. One said that firearms was a 'difficult environment to work in if you do not become part of the problem'. The second, said that the culture was exclusive, 'toxic and disgusting'. They said that non AFO managers should be brought into the units to 'fix the culture' and to get rid of the 'bad behaviours that exist'. A Non AFO who preferred not to disclose their gender said that there was 'a long-standing culture of bullying, sexism and elitism within firearms'.

A Former Female AFO said that they found themselves scrutinised more than male colleagues and 'had to jump through more hoops' to prove themselves. A second, said that they left the role 'due to the toxic male environment'. They said they 'never felt [they] could report anything as there was no female supervision'.

Again, these were not views expressed only by members of a single group. A Male AFO said the image portrayed by firearms units when deployed to assist other officers could be, 'quite embarrassing and not in keeping with the culture of a modern police force'. A second said they had not seen any real attempt at dismantling the macho culture. A third said that there were 'a lot of great people on the firearms unit... [but] if you ever called out anyone of the "Old Guard" or showed any weakness or emotion... you would be ostracised'. A Male former AFO said that they found the culture 'unbearable... an ego serving exercise for many where one's worth is based on how long they have served in firearms'. Remaining in the unit was 'incongruent' with their values and they left. A second, said that the AFOs in his force were 'rude and arrogant'. They saw unarmed officers as 'lesser'. The same respondent said that there also was 'a big issue with bullying and favouritism', which caused them to leave the unit.

The impact of AFO's behaviour is felt beyond the teams. A Female Non AFO said that firearms units present an 'ableist behaviour and mentality' that is unchallenged by forces and their leaders' They said the units operated in a '1970s policing environment'. A second Female Non AFO described the units as 'elitist and unapproachable', seeming to 'deliberately set themselves apart and... keep themselves apart from [other units]'.

4.4.2 Diversity in firearms teams

Assessed using the most basic of indicators, the demographics of their staff, firearms teams are not as representative of the communities they serve as the service would like. That also is recognised by staff. As Figure 4.10 shows, 26 percent of Straight Male respondents, 55 percent of Straight Female respondents, 69 percent of Gay men respondents, 77 percent of Lesbian women respondents, 40 percent of Other Male respondents, and 66 percent of Other Female respondents, strongly agree or agree with the proposition that there is a lack of diversity in firearms teams.

A Male AFO said that firearms units recognised that fact and were trying many different approaches to make the role more attractive and to improve diversity but they had found that 'the lack of diversity across the service means that... the pool of diverse officers is limited; firearms has to compete with every other department across the force. Some respondents argued that considerable efforts already have been made to deliver a diverse and representative firearms workforce but those efforts had failed because of the culture. A Female AFO said there was, 'a lot of great work going on to try and increase representation within firearms roles'. However, that often was 'blocked or not supported by those... embedded in the macho culture'. They said that the instructors were too 'old school' and reluctant to embrace change and diversity. Elaborating on that point, a third said, 'until you change the culture, bullying and discrimination at management level... you will never be able to be fully inclusive or represent the community the police serves'.



There is a lack of diversity within the firearms unit

Figure 4.10– Lack of diversity in firearms units (sorted by gender and sexual identity)

A Female AFO said that it was important to 'get numbers up in relation to diversity' but it was just as important to make people feel included'. They said that 'command teams are positive about increasing diversity but the culture of officers and supervisors needs to change'. There should be training on inclusion and emotional intelligence so that the discussion of taboo subjects [including the menopause] was encouraged and inappropriate language challenged. Another said that their force spent a lot of time asking women to apply for the role but did 'nothing' to support them through that process. Another said that firearms will continue to struggle with diversity and equality if forces do not make reasonable adjustments for females.

Typically, Male officers were more optimistic about the direction in which firearms teams are traveling. A Male AFO said that 'historically' the AFO role was performed by the 'macho white male' but this was changing 'for the better'. A second said they had joined 'an entirely white male department with one white female' Now, nine years later, there were 10 female AFOs and 'many officers from ethnic backgrounds'. A third said that the culture problem was perceived to be much greater than in fact it was because the command teams were 'basing their opinions on what they experienced 15-20 years ago, rather than what is currently going on... they are just too far out of touch'. However, a fourth said that within their force, 'the whole structure of firearms requires a revamp in order to recruit a more diverse team'.



Are Diversity-promoting strategies designed for representation and inclusion within firearms units appropriate and/or successful?

Figure 4.11 – Are diversity-promoting strategies appropriate (sorted by AFO/Non AFO and by gender

A Male AFO said that the service should 'not try to force the role upon anyone in an attempt to achieve a better diversity score'. A second said that the diversity of units is 'on the up' as a result of societal change. A Male AFO who self-declared as a member of an ethnic minority group said they wanted to achieve success based on their own ability and 'would never expect any positive discrimination' for any role.. A Female AFO said, there is 'no such thing as positive discrimination. It's discrimination either way'.

Figure 4.11 shows clearly that most respondents in all three of the Non AFO groups and in the Male AFO group, do not believe the diversity-promoting strategies pursued by the service have been effective. By small margins, the Female AFO group and the Other AFO group disagree; these groups believe they have been effective. Typical comments on the service's efforts in this regard were that they were misdirected and could be counterproductive. A Male AFO said that they didn't think any 'advertising campaign' or 'internal media drive' would ever change the dynamic. A Female AFO said the level of campaigns to encourage females and underrepresented groups has 'gone too far' and risked alienating members of the dominant group.



Figure 4.12 – If more officers in firearms units looked like me, I would be more inclined to apply (sorted by ethnicity)

As Figure 4.12 shows, when asked to respond to the proposition 'if more firearms units looked like me, I would be inclined to apply', 20 percent of White respondents, 38 percent of Mixed respondents, 70 percent of Asian respondents, 55 percent of Black respondents and 11 percent of Other respondents, strongly agreed or agreed with the proposition.

Figure 4.13 shows that when responses to the same proposition are sorted by sexual identity, 15 percent of Straight respondents, 41 percent of Gay respondents, and 25 percent of Other respondents strongly agreed or agreed with the proposition.



Figure 4.13 – If more officers in firearms units looked like me, I would be more inclined to apply (sorted by sexual identity)

4.5 Theme 5: Kit and equipment

Kit and equipment; particularly as to whether items are suitable, appropriate, and safe for all officers, has been a perennial issue for AFOs and their managers. By its nature, much of the kit (such as body armour, ballistic helmets, weapons, and so on) can be heavy and cumbersome. Armour and ancillary equipment can be uncomfortable to wear for the extended periods of duty commonly undertaken by AFOs. Figures 4.14 and 4.15 report, respectively, the survey responses to the propositions 'the AFO kit is comfortable' and 'the equipment required to be carried on the AFO uniform is too heavy for me to wear'.

Figure 4.14 shows that a broad spread of opinion in all groups. Proportionally more members of the Female and Prefer Not to Say groupings, strongly disagreed or disagreed with the proposition than respondents in the Male grouping. A Female AFO said that Females were underrepresented in firearms units because of 'the application process and the uniform. Although it is unisex, it does not accommodate [all women]'. A second Female AFO said that 'firearms bosses are narrow minded dinosaurs who refuse to make changes to kit to fit the changing environment around them'. A Female AFO said that they found themselves 'battling to get uniform and kit that fits and is suitable; even when it was available to purchase online' A second said the kit was 'totally impractical for a female officer and even worse when working in plain clothes'. A third said that they 'struggled to get uniform to fit' but their department 'arranged for a special order of uniform and some bespoke items to be made to fit me'.



The AFO uniform is comfortable

Figure 4.14 - The AFO kit is comfortable (sorted by gender)

Figure 4.15 shows that Male respondents seem to cope with the demands of carrying the AFO equipment better than those in the Female and Prefer Not to Say groups. A Female AFO said, 'The kit you are required to wear will ultimately limit female applications... due to being expected to carry the same weight as a male... I understand that the kit is designed for protective purpose however, there is a culture of one size fits all that is not acceptable'. The same respondent asked why the body armour available to CTSFOs was not made available to standard AFOs when it was obvious they would benefit from it.



Figure 4.15 - The equipment required to be carried on the AFO uniform is too heavy for me to wear (sorted by gender)

A Female Non AFO said that they were issued unsuitable uniform on a firearms course. A Female AFO said that she knew of at least three Female AFOs who were issued male body armour at the beginning of their initial firearms course. They said that this left Female officers 'open to various injuries and causes aggravation which leads to being stressed about an extra 'thing' that you shouldn't have to be stressed about'. A second Female AFO said that when they trained as an AFO, they had to wear an old stab and tactical vests that had belonged to a 6-foot, big build male. They were 'uncomfortable and really hindered my ability to comfortably train... tactical vests had attachments in the wrong place... Very disappointing to be honest'. A second Female AFO said their department was 'very slow to get female officers kit that fits their bodies. This has caused it difficult for me to carry all the kit without extreme discomfort'. An AFO who preferred not to state their gender said, 'The body armour is too heavy and not fit for purpose, as it is causing injuries'.

4.6 Theme 6: Pay and rewards

The subject of bonus or targeted payments for officers in priority posts has been a topic of discussion for many years. Currently, AFOs are not paid any more than unarmed officers.



Figure 4.16 – There are not enough incentives to join the firearms unit (sorted by gender)

Figure 4.16 shows that in each of the three gender groups, the largest proportion of respondents strongly agreed or agreed with the proposition that there are not enough incentives to join the firearms unit.

A male AFO said that it was 'unbelievable' that firearms officers 'do not receive additional pay, allowances or expenses for the huge amount of training and responsibility they have to take on'. A second, said that AFOs 'are expected to perform a multitude of roles placing extra stress and pressure on their mental health, they get no recognition for the extra responsibilities and dangers they face'. A third said that the pay was 'ridiculous' for the role. A third said the service needed to offer a financial incentive to recruit more AFOs and to retain the ones it has; 'the level of responsibility for firearms officers in comparison to backoffice staff and general front-line officers is unfair without an incentive'. A fourth said that a 'pay review for specialist roles is required'.

4.7 Summary

Issues of concern to all AFO respondents (particularly those in the Female and Other groups) are practical matters such as uniform and kit, training (more precisely, the teaching style), pay and rewards, and achieving a satisfactory work/life balance. Female AFOs and officers in the wider service said that the units perpetuate a macho culture. The role is unattractive to a large proportion of its potential recruits; just over half of Male respondents, less than half of those in the Other group, and less than a third of Female respondents, are interested in taking up the role. When issues such as officer health and fitness are factored in, the pool of potential recruits shrinks even further. Respondents ranked highest; scrutiny following a police shooting and unwillingness to carry a firearm, as significant barriers to recruitment. In terms of motivation to join a team; respondents ranked highest, the professional challenge the role presents. However, it must be highlighted that many respondents said they were attracted to the role because it offered them an escape from the pressures of operational policing. In other words; for many, the push factor outweighs the pull.

Chapter 5 Discussion, conclusions, and recommendations

Introduction

This final chapter critically assesses the research findings against the background of the extant literature. It interprets and describes the significance of those findings in relation to what was already known about the demographics and culture of police firearm units and explains the new understandings and insights that have emerged from this study. The chapter concludes this report by reflecting on the extent to which the research question has been answered and the research aims achieved. It concludes with a set of recommendations for future policy and practice.

5.1 Discussion

Issues of concern to all respondents in this study (particularly those in the Female and Other groups) were practical matters such as uniform and kit, training (more precisely, the teaching style employed by the trainers), pay and rewards, and achieving a satisfactory work/life balance. These matters will be discussed before the report moves on to what researchers will argue are their most significant findings. Those relate to the attractiveness of the role to potential applicants and to the macho culture of firearms units and the impact of that culture on the achievement of a diverse and inclusive workforce.

5.1.1 Uniform and kit

Many studies have recognised that kit and equipment; questions about their appropriateness, suitability, and safety are perennial issues for AFOs (particularly Female AFOs) and their managers (see for example, Blaskovits *et al.*, 2022; Coltman *et al.*, 2021; and Niemczyk *et al.*, 2020). The fit and function of a uniform is important not just for the obvious practical reasons but because they are indicators of group identity and belonging (Strand *et al.*, 2022 and Panter, 2018). It reasonably can be inferred that, beyond the practicalities, when individuals are provided with ill-fitting uniform or sub-optimally functioning kit, that also could mark out the wearer as different; an 'outsider' or as someone at the margin of the group. In turn, that may influence group and social interactions. In this study, Most AFOs were satisfied with their uniform and kit (see Figures 4.14 and 4.15). Most Female AFO respondents reported that forces were accommodating their needs (in one case, their employer had gone as far as purchasing bespoke kit and uniform for the officer) but there was sufficient criticism from others in that same group (see Section 4.5) to infer that there remain gaps in provision that need to be filled. Panter (2018) found that in hypermasculine environments such as firearms teams, even small visual deviations from the norm could identify and magnify gender differences in ways that limited acceptance and cohesion. The authors of this report argue that those deviations also are significant in the contexts of diversity and inclusion.

5.1.2 Training and teaching style

AFO respondents (in all three gender groups) complained about a militaristic mentality in the initial training environment. The concept of socialising new recruits into military or police life through processes of conditioning is well understood (see for example Van Maanen, 1972 and Bourne, 1967). It has long been a feature of police training in the UK. However, it also has been recognised that trainees' confidence can be shaken at the gap between pre-entry expectations and reality (Sato, 2003).

AFO candidates/trainees want forces to find a compromise between 'Old school' methods and modern teaching and learning styles. Current methods were disparaged by respondents in all three gender groups. The majority view was that a more participative teaching and learning style that more obviously met the needs of candidates/trainees in a modern police service, was needed.

5.1.3 Pay and rewards

This is an emotive topic in any setting. Certainly, it has been a hot topic in policing since discretionary and priority payments were ended in 2011. The research team understand *a priori* that some forces make additional payments to AFOs. However, the levels of payment and the factors that contribute to qualification for those payments are unknown to the research team. Many respondents felt that AFOs were underpaid and under-rewarded for the role they perform. That was reflected in Figure 4.16, which showed that in each of the three gender groups, the largest proportion of respondents strongly agreed or agreed with

the proposition that there were not enough incentives to join the firearms unit. Those views need to be balanced against those expressed exclusively by the Non AFO grouping. Members of which considered the AFO role to provide an easier ride than that experienced by the typical patrol officer. To them, the role is unworthy of further payment. There always is a risk that the implementation of a discretionary payment scheme could be divisive for staff relations (Hanley 2005). Given the comments of many Non AFO respondents in this survey, the researchers argue that division would be inevitable.

5.1.4 Work/life balance

This research revealed that most respondents are content with their shift pattern but many felt the role did not otherwise offer the flexibility they needed. Though not exclusively an issue for the survey's female respondents, more Females than Males cited the achievement of a satisfactory work/life balance to be a challenge, which is consistent both with the data collected by the service in its 2020 survey and with the extant literature. Researchers have found that the lack of family friendly policies can inhibit women from seeking advancement in male-dominated organisations (see for example Dodge *et al*, 2011 and Babcock and Laschever, 2009). Studies also have concluded that the lack of childcare assistance and family-oriented policies have discouraged women from applying for promotions or specialist assignments (See for example, Todak *et al.*, 2022 and 2021; and Charlesworth and Robertson, 2012).

Mirroring the findings of the police's own research into firearms teams in 2020, this study found that some women had left, or had not considered applying for, the role because they felt that they could not reconcile performing it with fulfilling their family or caring responsibilities. The researchers recognise that AFOs need to work long hours (often at short notice) and must maintain their physical fitness to a high standard. That makes achieving that balance rather difficult; if not in some cases, impossible. However, the implicit message from Female former AFOs was that they would have stayed with their units had a mutually agreeable work plan been developed and implemented. Given the challenge of recruiting AFOs, their retention must be a priority for forces. The research team believe that a management review of officers' exit interviews would provide insights that could be incorporated into future policy and practice.

67

5.1.5 Attractiveness of the AFO role

This study has shown clearly that in 2022 many police officers did not want to carry a firearm and were not interested in the AFO role. That applies across all groups; no matter what respondents' gender, ethnicity or sexual identity. The authors of this report highlight that their findings represent a snapshot of views and opinions at a single point in time. Officers' views and opinions are fungible; they are subject to change as the environment changes. Externally, the prospect of change is linked to the perceived level of threat to the state, to communities and to officers themselves. It is hypothesised that as the level of threat increases, more officers of all genders and from all ethnic and sexual identity groups will be attracted to the AFO role. Conversely, as it recedes volunteers will be fewer in number. In ordinary circumstances, the police have no control over that dynamic.

Given that considerable numbers of respondents in this study said they were medically or mentally unfit for AFO work and/or were not confident they could pass the enhanced fitness test; a requirement for all AFOs, the service would need to make extensive structural and cultural changes and a considerable financial commitment to improving the health and fitness of its sworn workforce if it wanted to enlarge substantially the pool of officers available for AFO work. In principle, it is in the service's power to effect those changes but they would be costly; the impact on the wider workforce unpredictable; and the outcomes uncertain.

It is against that background that this report assesses the AFO demographic and the representation of minority groups in firearms units. Drawing on the work of Jones *et al.,* the research team understands that in 2020, just 29 of the service's AFOs identified as Black/Black British, representing 0.4 percent of the AFO population (of 6584) compared with 7.3 percent of Black/Black British officers in the PSEW workforce (Home Office, 2020). Just 7 percent of AFOs identified as a member of a minority group (Jones *et al.*, Ibid.). Notably, in 2020, 14 of the 43 Home Office forces did not have a single ethnic minority AFO. The percentage of female AFOs was 9.8 percent compared with 31 percent of the wider population (Home Office, op. cit., p.27). These figures evidence the underrepresentation of women and individuals who identify with a minority ethnic group in the AFO workforce.

In 2020, neither the Home Office nor Jones *et al* collected data on sexual identity. In this study, 2707 survey respondents (68 percent) identified as 'straight'; 104 (3 percent) as 'lesbian/gay'; and 1196 (30 percent) as 'Other'. The 'Other' grouping included respondents who, in rather small numbers, identified as: bisexual; aromantic; asexual; fluid; pansexual; questioning; queer; and all respondents who chose not to disclose their sexual identity (by far, the largest proportion of responses in this group). Highlighting one of the limitations of the survey method for collecting data, the research team respects completely, respondents' decisions to opt for the 'prefer not to say option' but it should be recognised that as a result of so many choosing that option, inferring the maximum amount of meaning from the data was problematic.

Proportionately more Male respondents reported they were interested in the role than Female respondents (49 percent compared to 31 percent). Notably, 56 percent of Female respondents compared with 36 percent of Male respondents, strongly disagreed or disagreed with the proposition they were interested in the role. We infer that most women officers do not want to be AFOs. When the results were sorted by ethnicity, the research team was able to identify some slight differences in responses but low numbers in the Mixed, Asian, Black, and Other respondent groups, made interpreting those differences in a meaningful way, impractical.

When respondents were asked to rank the factors that attracted them to the work, the 'professional challenge the role presents' placed top of the list. However, it is highlighted that the ranking exercise was based on forced choices. When respondents were given the freedom to answer as they wished, many said they were attracted to the role because it offered them an escape from the day-to-day pressures of operational policing. This sentiment was substantiated by the many negative comments recorded by the Non AFO group about AFOs' attitudes and behaviours; typified by one that AFOs spend their time, 'eating chicken at Nando's and talking about tattoos'.

Police shootings are rare events, but a very high number of survey respondents (2441) ranked 'scrutiny following a police shooting' as the greatest barrier to recruitment. Non AFO respondents were concerned about the post-event investigative process but also that

69

should they be subject of an investigation, they would not be supported by their employers. The research team do not know what measures the PSEW has taken to ameliorate officers' concerns, but it seems obvious from this study that more needs to be done to explain both the post-event investigative process and the support that is available to officers who are the subject of an investigation.

Some AFO respondents told the research team that their forces were assessing new ways of identifying potential recruits and encouraging them to consider becoming AFOs. The research team understands that this includes 'talent-spotting' new recruits to the service at outreach events (such as 'discovery days'). Another suggestion in the same vein was to swell the ranks of the AFO workforce, by launching a fast-track recruitment scheme as recently has been used by forces across England and Wales to recruit detectives. These initiatives are worthy of further consideration; some forces who employed fast-track schemes did have success in filling gaps in their detective ranks. However, as James *et al* (2019) found, the schemes put huge pressure on forces' human resources and training departments and even on the investigative teams they were designed to help. The shortage of skilled, experienced, detectives able to act as mentors for the new detectives meant that some recruits were left to 'sink or swim'.

5.1.6 Macho culture and its impact on the diversity of firearms units

Perhaps the most telling data that emerged from the survey was that 84 percent of Female AFOs and 82 percent of Female Non AFOs strongly agreed or agreed with the proposition that 'firearms units are associated with a macho culture'. Notably, 54 percent of Male AFOs and 68 percent of Male Non AFOs also strongly agreed or agreed with the proposition. Many of the comments made by respondents in this study about that culture and the impact it has had on them, will make difficult reading for the report's recipients. Particularly when they consider the survey results and respondents' comments in the light of the convictions of AFOs Wayne Couzens and David Carrick, and the ongoing investigations in the Metropolitan Police into 800 officers suspected or accused of sexual offences and/or domestic violence (BBC News, 2023). The authors of this report highlight that the data they collected did not allow them to assess the currency of some of the respondents' comments or the impact of any measures taken by the service to address officers' attitudes and behaviours. However, the survey results imply that, substantially, the comments reflect the contemporary environment. The authors cannot point to direct evidence of the culture impacting on the diversity of the teams but argue that, on balance, these findings do not suggest there is easy access to the 'in-group'.

Debby Mackay's (2016) research in a UK firearms team (one of just a handful of empirical studies in that environment) suggests that social identity theory can shine a light on the firearms team dynamic. The theory posits that occupational identity is sustained through group values, rites, and collective behaviour that members believe to be essential identifiers of the dominant 'in-group'. McKay found that some female AFOs saw themselves as outsiders; isolated from the male in-group, disadvantaged and ultimately treated unfairly. In terms of the theory, they were tokens. Kanter (1977b) argued that members of the token group were likely to have negative workplace experiences directly as a result of their low numbers. However, as the numerical proportions within a group shifted and reached a tipping point (as little as 15 percent of the population), their social and professional experiences would change. Six years on, this study confirms the validity of McKay's findings.

There have been many studies into the impact of tokenism on female police officers (see for example, Gustafson, 2008; Archbold and Schulz, 2008; Krimmel and Gormley, 2003, Taylor-Greene and del Carmen, 2002; and Martin, 1980). All these studies found evidence to support Kanter's theory even if the researchers were not always comfortable with her 15 percent benchmark (criticised by some as arbitrary). It is argued that the tipping point exists but that it is determined by variations in the professional and/or social setting. Drawing upon that research, the authors argue for a longitudinal study that would allow for the analysis of change over time in firearms teams' culture and dynamics.

5.2 Conclusions

The study on which this report is based, answered the research question, 'why are minority groups underrepresented in police firearms teams'? It did so by critically examining; the perceptions of firearms teams' culture among two groups: current and former AFOs; and

71

non-AFOs; assessing cultural barriers to improving inclusion and diversity within firearms teams; AFO practice (to determine whether elements of the role exclude or limit diversity); and whether there are any aspects of uniform, equipment, or training that impact upon diversity and inclusion in firearms teams.

It proved impractical to link negative aspects of the firearms role or environment (factors that discouraged engagement) based on ethnicity or sexual identity. The data collected simply would not allow for that; the researchers argue, given the demographic of the target group, that no survey would be able to make those links in a meaningful way. The team believes that other methods such as interviews and observations could make those links and recommends that such methods are incorporated into a longitudinal study it recommends the PSEW commissions as a result of this research.

A high proportion of police officers would never, under ordinary circumstances, consider joining a firearms team. That is true for individuals in all groups; regardless of their gender, ethnicity or sexual identity. Therefore, it is germane to assess why that is so. Many officers do not want to be armed; some suffer from ill health or have disabilities that restrict their choices; and some lack the fitness required to work in a such a physically demanding role. Realistically, the pool from which firearms teams can draw, probably is less than half the size of the operational police workforce. A frequently cited reason for reluctance to consider the AFO role is the lack of support for officers following a police shooting. That issue should be addressed directly in marketing material, discovery days, and all other outreach activities.

Other significant barriers to AFO recruitment identified were:

Pay and rewards – AFOs believe they deserve greater financial rewards for performing the role. The research team cannot assess the merits of that claim. It should be noted that this study indicates there is a stark difference in how officers in the mainstream perceive both the AFO role and AFOs' deservedness of additional reward for performing it. If the PSEW consider that additional payments to AFOs are merited it will need to manage the payment process sensitively and carefully because such payments could be divisive.

72
Uniform and kit – A particular concern for Female AFOs. Many have had or are still having to make do with 'hand me downs' or Male kit that does not meet their needs. This is not just a performance issue; it is a matter of officer safety and well-being. It also is a negative indicator of the value a force puts on a member of its staff.

Work/life balance – Female AFOs left or did not consider applying for the role because they could not reconcile performing it with fulfilling their family or caring responsibilities. Their services would not have been lost if a mutually agreeable work plan could have been developed and implemented. The challenges of recruiting new staff are such that effective staff retention strategies are of paramount importance. A management review of retention policies that drew *inter alia* on officers' exit interviews would provide insights that could be incorporated into future policy.

Macho culture – Normatively, culture informs the way people behave, interact with one another, communicate and see the world around them. It is deeply embedded and highly resistant to change. The macho culture is endemic in firearms teams. This research has shown that it has a corrosive effect on the team dynamic; on relations between Male AFOs and AFOs who identify with other groups; and on relations between the teams and officers in mainstream policing. There is an urgent need both for cultural and behavioural change in the firearms environment.

5.3 Recommendations

1. There is an urgent need for a cultural audit of firearms teams.

2. There should be a management review of firearms teams' retention policies.

3. There should be a management review of officers' kit and uniform provision, which currently does not meet all individuals' needs.

4. This study represents a snapshot in time. Once the cultural audit has been completed and its results analysed, NPCC should commission a longitudinal study aimed at assessing

changes over time in firearms teams' culture and behaviours. Together, these studies will enable the service to target the interventions this research shows so clearly are needed.

References

Adams, G.A. and Buck, J. (2010). Social stressors and strain among police officers: it's not just the bad guys. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 37 (9), pp.1030-1040.

Adlam, R., (2002). Governmental rationalities in police leadership: An essay exploring some of the 'deep structure' in police leadership praxis. *Policing and Society*, 12(1), pp.15-36.

Allen, G. and Harding, M., (2021). *Police Service Strength*. House of Library Commons, Commons Library Research Briefing, Number CO00634. Retrieved at: https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/SN00634/SN00634.pdf

Allisey, A.F., Noblet, A.J., Lamontagne, A.D. and Houdmont, J. (2014). Testing a model of officer intentions to quit the mediating effects of job stress and job satisfaction. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 41 (6), pp.51-71.

Anderson, G.S. and Plecas, D.B., (2000). Predicting shooting scores from physical performance data. *Policing: An International Journal of Police Strategies & Management* 23(4), pp.525-37.

Andres, L. (2012). Designing and doing survey research. Sage.

Archbold, C., and Schulz, D. (2008). Making rank: The lingering effects of tokenism on female police officers' promotion aspirations. *Police Quarterly*, 11(1), pp.50–73.

Archbold, C., Hassell, K., and Stichman, A. (2010). Comparing promotion aspirations among female and male police officers. *International Journal of Police Science & Management*, 12(2), pp.287-303.

Ariel, B., Lawes, D., Weinborn, C., Henry, R., Chen, K. and Brants Sabo, H., (2019). The lessthan-lethal weapons effect' -introducing TASERs to routine police operations in England and Wales: a randomized controlled trial. *Criminal justice and behavior*, 46(2), pp.280-300.

Babcock, L. and Laschever, S., (2009). *Women don't ask: Negotiation and the Gender Divide.* Princeton University Press.

Bell, S. and Eski, Y., (2016). 'Break a leg—it's all in the mind': police officers' attitudes towards colleagues with mental health issues. *Policing: A Journal of Policy and Practice*, 10(2), pp.95-101.

Biggs, A. and Brough, P., (2016). The potential benefits of police culture and support and work outcomes among police officers. In *Stress in Policing*. Routledge.

Blaskovits, B., Bennell, C., Baldwin, S., Ewanation, L., Brown, A. and Korva, N., (2022). The thin blue line between cop and soldier: examining public perceptions of the militarized appearance of police. *Police Practice and Research*, 23(2), pp.212-35.

Bourne, P. (1967). Some Observations on the Psychosocial Phenomena Seen in Basic Training. *Psychiatry*. 30(2) pp.187-96.

Bradley, E., Fayaz, S., Farish, C. and Coulson, M., (2022). Evaluation of physical health, mental wellbeing, and injury in a UK Police Firearms unit. *Police Practice and Research*, pp.1-13.

Brisbine, B.R., Steele, J.R., Phillips, E.J. and McGhee, D.E., (2019). The occurrence causes and perceived performance effects of breast injuries in elite female athletes. *Journal of Sports Science & Medicine*, 18(3), p.569.

Brown, A., Baldwin, S., Blaskovits, B. and Bennell, C., (2021). Examining the impact of grip strength and officer gender on shooting performance. *Applied Ergonomics*, 97, p.103536.

Brown, J. and Fielding, J., (1993). Qualitative differences in men and women police officers' experience of occupational stress. *Work & Stress*, 7(4), pp.327-40.

Brown, J. and Sargent, S., (1995). Policewomen and firearms in the British police service. *Police Stud.: Int'l Rev. Police Dev.*, 18, p.1.

Brown, J. and Silvestri, M. (2019). Women Police in the UK: Transforming Leadership. In: Rabe-Hemp, C and Garcia, V., eds. *Women Policing the World: Shared Challenges and Successes in the Integration of Women Police Worldwide*. Lanham, MD; Rowman & Littlefield.

Brown, J., (2007). From cult of masculinity to smart macho: gender perspectives on police occupational culture. *Police occupational culture: new debates and discussion*. Oxford: Elsevier, pp.189-210.

Brown, J., Fleming, J., Silvestri, M., Linton, K. and Gouseti, I., (2019). Implications of police occupational culture in discriminatory experiences of senior women in police forces in England and Wales. *Policing and Society*, 29(2), pp.121-36.

Brown, T. C., Baldwin, J. M., Dierenfeldt, R., and McCain, S. (2020). Playing the game: A qualitative exploration of the female experience in a hypermasculine policing environment. *Police Quarterly*, 23(2), pp.143-73.

Burke, M. (1993). Coming out of the blue. London, UK: Continuum.

Burke, M. (1994). Cop culture and homosexuality. Police Journal, 65, pp.30-39.

Burke, M. (1994a). Homosexuality as deviance: The case of the gay police officer. *British Journal of Criminology*, 34, pp.192-203.

Burton, A.K., Tillotson, K.M., Symonds, T.L., Burke, C. and Mathewson, T., (1996). Occupational risk factors for the first onset and subsequent course of low back trouble: a study of serving police officers. *Spine*, 21(22), pp.2612-20.

Cain, D., (2011). Gender Within a Specialist Police Department: An examination of the cultural dynamics of a firearms unit (Doctoral dissertation, University of Portsmouth).

Campbell, A., Roelofs, A., Davey, P. and Straker, L., (2013). Response time, pistol fire position variability, and pistol draw success rates for hip and thigh holsters. *Human factors*, 55(2), pp.425-34.

Chakraborti, N., and Garland, J. (2015). *Hate Crime: Impact, Causes & Responses*, London: Sage Publications.

Chan, J., (1996). Changing police culture. *The British Journal of Criminology*, 36(1), pp.109-134.

Charman, S., (2020). Making sense of policing identities: The 'deserving' and the 'undeserving' in policing accounts of victimisation. *Policing and Society*, 30(1), pp.81-97.

Clark-Darby, O., (2020). Armed Policing in England (Doctoral dissertation, University of Southampton).

Clapham, N (2017). *Here's when British police are legally allowed to shoot under a new policy on lethal force*. Available at https://theconversation.com/heres-when-british-police-are-legally-allowed-to-shoot-under-a-new-policy-on-lethal-force-76666.

Cockcroft, T., (2020). Police culture: research and practice. Policy Press.

Coffey, A. and Atkinson, P. (1996). *Making sense of qualitative data: Complementary research strategies*. Sage Publications, Inc.

Coltman, C.E., Brisbine, B.R. and Steele, J.R., (2021). Bra-body armour integration, breast discomfort and breast injury associated with wearing body armour. *Ergonomics*, 64(12), pp.1623-33.

Coltman, C.E., Brisbine, B.R., Molloy, R.H., Ball, N.B., Spratford, W.A. and Steele, J.R., (2021). Identifying problems that female soldiers experience with current-issue body armour. *Applied Ergonomics*, 94, p.103384.

Colvin, R., (2009). Shared perceptions among lesbian and gay police officers: Barriers and opportunities in the law enforcement work environment. *Police quarterly*, 12(1), pp.86-101.

Colvin, R., (2012). *Gay and lesbian cops: Diversity and effective policing*. Boulder, CO: Lynne Rienner Publishers.

Colvin, R., (2015). Shared workplace experiences of lesbian and gay police officers in the United Kingdom. *Policing: an international journal of police strategies & management.*

Connell, R., (1995). *Masculinities*. Sydney: Polity Press.

Contreras-Negretti V (2019). *Blending Light and Dark: A Qualitative Analysis of the Experiences of Stress and Growth in Retired Police Officers*. PhD Thesis. London, UK: University of East London.

Corsianos, M., (2009). *Policing and gendered justice: Examining the possibilities*. University of Toronto Press.

Crank, J.P., (2014). Understanding police culture. Routledge.

Demou, E., Hale, H. and Hunt, K., (2020). Understanding the mental health and wellbeing needs of police officers and staff in Scotland. *Police Practice and Research*, 21(6), pp.702-16.

Dodge, M., Valcore, L. and Gomez, F., (2011). Women on SWAT teams: separate but equal? *Policing: an international journal of police strategies & management*, 34(4), pp.699-712.

Dodge, M., Valcore, L. and Klinger, D.A., (2010). Maintaining separate spheres in policing: Women on SWAT teams. *Women & criminal justice*, 20(3), pp.218-38.

Drew, J., Carless, S.A. and Thompson, B.M. (2008). Predicting turnover of police officers using the 16-personality factor questionnaire. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 36(4), pp.326-31.

Elliott, A.C. and Woodward, W.A. (2007). *Statistical analysis quick reference guidebook: With SPSS examples.* Sage.

Foster, J. (2003). 'Police Cultures' in T. Newburn, ed., *Handbook of Policing*. Devon: Willan Publishing.

Gachter, M., Savage, D.A. and Torgler, B. (2013). Retaining the thin blue line: what shapes workers' intentions not to quit the current work environment. *International Journal of Social Economics*, 40 (5), pp.479-503.

Garcia, V., (2003). Difference" in the police department: Women, policing, and 'doing gender'. *Journal of Contemporary Criminal Justice*, 19(3), pp.330-44.

Gustafson, J.L., (2008). Tokenism in policing: An empirical test of Kanter's hypothesis *Journal* of Criminal Justice, 36 (2008), pp.1-10.

Hanley, G. (2005) Right on the Money: What do Australian Unions Think of Performancerelated Pay? *Journal of Employee Relations*, Volume 27, Issue 2, pp.141-59.

Heidensohn, F. (1992). *Women in Control: The Role of Women in Law enforcement*. Oxford: Oxford University Press

Heidensohn, F. and Brown, J., (2000). *Gender and policing: Comparative perspectives*. London: Palgrave Macmillan.

Holdaway, S. (1997). Constructing and Sustaining 'Race' within the police workforce, *British Journal of Sociology*, Vol 48. No 1, pp.19-34

Home Office (2021). *Police use of firearms statistics, England and Wales: April 2020 to March 2021* second edition. Retrieved from:

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/police-use-of-firearms-statistics-england-and-wales-april-2020-to-march-2021/police-use-of-firearms-statistics-england-and-wales-april-2020-to-march-2021

Home Office (2022). *Number of armed police officers in England and Wales between 2008/09 and 2020/21*. Statista. Statista Inc. Accessed: June 01, 2022. <u>https://www.statista.com/statistics/1123589/armed-police-in-england-and-wales/</u>]

IOPC (2021). *Deaths during or following police contact: Statistics for England and Wales* 2018/19 available online at

file:///C:/Users/LCPAJAME/Downloads/deaths_during_following_police_contact_201819.pd f

James A, Silverstone D, Carr R, Kelly T, Karecha J. (2019). A report for the National Police Chiefs Council (NPCC) on innovative programmes for the recruitment and training of investigators, currently in operation in police forces in England & Wales (unpublished – a copy can be supplied on request).

Jones, M., and Williams, M. (2013). Twenty years on: Lesbian, gay and bisexual police officers' experiences of workplace discrimination in England and Wales. *Policing and Society: An International Journal of Research and Policy*, 25(2), pp.1-24.

Kanter, R. (1977). Some effects of proportions on group life: Skewed sex ratios and responses to token women. *American Journal of Sociology*, 82(5), pp.965-90.

Kanter, R.M., (1977). Men and women of the corporation. New York: Basic Books.

Kayihan, G., Ersöz, G., Özkan, A. and Koz, M., (2013). Relationship between efficiency of pistol shooting and selected physical-physiological parameters of police. *Policing: an international journal of police strategies & management* (4), pp.819-32.

Kinouani, G. (2021). *Living while Black: The essential guide to overcoming racial trauma*, London: Ebury Press.

Krimmel, J.T. and Gormley P.E., (2003). Tokenism and job satisfaction for policewomen. *American Journal of Criminal Justice*, 28 (2003), pp.73-88.

Kyoung An, S. (2010). Laboratory Assessment of Range of Motion and Pressure Associated with Female Soldiers Wearing a Ballistic Vest. Oklahoma State University.

Larsen, L.B., Andersson, E.E., Tranberg, R. and Ramstrand, N., (2018). Multi-site musculoskeletal pain in Swedish police: associations with discomfort from wearing mandatory equipment and prolonged sitting. *International archives of occupational and environmental health*, 91(4), pp.425-433.

Lasley, J.R., Larson, J., Kelso, C. and Brown, G.C., (2011). Assessing the long-term effects of officer race on police attitudes towards the community: A case for representative bureaucracy theory. *Police Practice and Research*, 12(6), pp.474-91.

Levine, P. (1994). Walking the Streets in a Way No Decent Woman Should: Women Police in World War I. *The Journal of Modern History*, 66(1), pp.34-78.

Leyk, D., Gorges, W., Ridder, D., Wunderlich, M., Rüther, T., Sievert, A. and Essfeld, D., (2007). Hand-grip strength of young men, women and highly trained female athletes. *European journal of applied physiology*, 99(4), pp.415-21.

Lila, M., Garcia, E., and Garcia, F. (2013). Ambivalent sexism, empathy and law enforcement attitudes towards partner violence against women among male police officers. *Psychology, Crime & Law*, 19(10), pp.907-19.

Loftus, B., (2008). Dominant culture interrupted: Recognition, resentment, and the politics of change in an English police force. *British Journal of Criminology*, 48(6), pp.756-77.

Loveday, B., (2013). Government and Accountability of the Police. In *Policing across the World* (pp. 132-150). Routledge.

Mackay, D. (2016) A critical examination of female police officers' perspectives on working in the firearms department of Merseyside Police. Masters' Thesis, Liverpool Hope University.

Macpherson, W. (1999). The Stephen Lawrence Inquiry, London: HMSO.

Mahbub, R., Wang, L., & Arnold, L. (2014). Design of knitted three-dimensional seamless female body armour vests. *International Journal of Fashion Design, Technology and Education*, 7(3), 1 pp.98-207.

Martin, S.E., (1999). Police force or police service? Gender and emotional labor. *The annals of the American academy of political and social science*, 561(1), pp.111-26.

Martin, S.E. (1980). *Breaking and entering: Policewomen on patrol*. University of California Press, Berkeley, CA.

Matz, A., Woo, Y. and Kim, B. (2014). A meta-analysis of the correlates of turnover intent in criminal justice organizations: does agency type matter. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 42 (3), pp. 233-243.

McCarthy, D.J., (2013). Gendering 'soft' policing: multi-agency working, female cops, and the fluidities of police culture/s. *Policing and Society*, 23(2), pp.261-278.

McHugh M. L. (2013). The chi-square test of independence. *Biochemia Medica*, 23(2), pp.143-149.

McLaughlin, E. (2007). The new policing. London: SAGE.

Meadwell, J., Paxman-Clarke, L., Terris, D. and Ford, P., (2019). In search of a performing seal: Rethinking the design of tight-fitting respiratory protective equipment facepieces for users with facial hair. *Safety and Health at Work*, 10(3), pp.275-304.

Messerschmidt, J. (1993). *Masculinities and crime: Critique and reconceptualization of theory*. Lanham, MD: Rowman & Littlefield.

Miller, S.L., Forest, K.B. and Jurik, N.C., (2003). Diversity in blue: Lesbian and gay police officers in a masculine occupation. *Men and masculinities*, 5(4), pp.355-85.

Morelli, F., Neugebauer, J.M., Haynes, C.A., Fry, T.C., Ortega, S.V., Struve, D.J., LaFiandra, M.E. and Larkin, G.B., (2017). Shooter–system performance variability as a function of recoil dynamics. *Human factors*, 59(6), pp.973-85.

Muirhead, H., Orr, R., Schram, B., Kornhauser, C., Holmes, R. and Dawes, J.J., (2019). The relationship between fitness and marksmanship in Police Officers. *Safety*, 5(3), p.54.

Nabeel, I., Baker, B.A., McGrail Jr, M.P. and Flottemesch, T.J., (2007). Correlation between physical activity, fitness, and musculoskeletal injuries in police officers. *Minnesota Medicine*, 90(9), pp.40-43.

National Police Chiefs' Council (2016). *Extra Armed Police to Deal with Terrorist Threat*. (April 01, 2016). Retrieved at: https://news.npcc.police.uk/releases/extra-armed-police-to-deal-with-terrorist-threat

Nhan, J., (2019). *Issues and controversies in policing today*. Lanham, Maryland: Rowman & Littlefield.

Niemczyk, S.E., Arnold, L. and Wang, L., (2020). Incompatible functions: Problems of protection and comfort identified by female police officers required to wear ballistic vests over bras. *International Journal of Fashion Design, Technology and Education*, 13(2), pp.165-172.

NPCC (2018). NPCC workforce representation, attraction, recruitment, progression and retention toolkit. Accessed on 11 August 2022. Available at: https://www.npcc.police.uk/documents/edhr/2018/NPCC percent20Workforce percent20Representation percent20Toolkit percent20for percent20Police percent20Force.pdf

NPCC (2022). *Police race action plan: Improving policing for black people*. Accessed on 11 August 2022. Available at: https://cdn.prgloo.com/media/3618aba8b25b4a2494ad20d9b793eb25.pdf

Orr, R.M., Rofe, A., Hinton, B., Dawes, J., Greco, G. And Lockie, R., (2021). The effect of grip size and grip strength on pistol marksmanship in police officers: a pilot study. *Nbp-journal of criminalistics and law*, 26(1), pp.61-72.

Panter, H., (2017). Pre-operative transgender motivations for entering policing occupations. *International Journal of Transgenderism*, 18(3), pp.305-317.

Panter, H. (2018). *Transgender cops: The intersection of gender and sexuality expectations in police cultures.* Routledge: London.

Path, B. A. (2019). Women in policing: Breaking barriers and blazing a path.

Planche, K., Chan, J. F., Di Nota, P. M., Beston, B., Boychuk, E., Collins, P. I., & Andersen, J. P. (2019). Diurnal cortisol variation according to high-risk occupational specialty within police: Comparisons between frontline, tactical officers, and the general population. *Journal of Occupational & Environmental Medicine*, 61(6), e260–5.

Police Federation (2017). *Routine Arming Survey 2017.* Retrieved at: https://www.polfed.org/media/14713/mps-routine-arming-report-not-protectively-marked-12-04-18-v1.pdf?FolderGuid=3A04468ECBBC4955BDE848FBE2913749/MPS percent20Routine percent20arming percent20report percent20 percent20(not percent20protectively percent20marked)- percent2012-04-18- percent20v.1.pdf

Prenzler, T. and Sinclair, G., (2013). The status of women police officers: An international review. *International journal of law, crime and justice, 41*(2), pp.115-31.

Prince, S.E., Chen, H., Tong, H., Berntsen, J., Masood, S., Zeman, K.L., Clapp, P.W., Bennett, W.D. and Samet, J.M., (2021). Assessing the effect of beard hair lengths on face masks used as personal protective equipment during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of exposure science & environmental epidemiology*, *31*(6), pp.953-60.

Purba, A., and Demou, E. (2019). The relationship between organisational stressors and mental wellbeing within police officers: A systematic review. *BMC Public Health*, 19(1), p.1286.

Rabe-Hemp, C. (2008). Survival in an 'all boys club': Policewomen and their fight for acceptance. *Policing: An International Journal of Police Strategies & Management, 31*(2), 251-270.

Rabe-Hemp, C. (2009). POLICEwomen or PoliceWOMEN?: Doing gender and police work. *Feminist Criminology*, 4(2), 114-129.

Rabe-Hemp, C. and Humiston, S.G. (2014). A survey of maternity policies and pregnancy accommodations in the United States. *Police Practice and Research*, 16 (3), pp.239-53.

Ramstrand, N., Zügner, R., Larsen, L.B. and Tranberg, R., (2016). Evaluation of load carriage systems used by active-duty police officers: relative effects on walking patterns and perceived comfort. *Applied ergonomics*, 53, pp.36-43.

Rief, R. and Clinkinbeard, S., (2020). Exploring gendered environments in policing: Workplace incivilities and fit perceptions in men and women officers. *Police Quarterly*, 23(4), pp.427-450.

Rodd, D., Leasure-Woodburn, M. and Wilson, G., (2010). The effects of grip strength and firearm discharge. *Indiana Law Enforcement Journal*, 1(8), pp.1-11.

Rodríguez-Sanz, D., Calvo-Lobo, C., López-López, D., Angulo-Carrere, M.T. and San-Antolín, M., (2021). Facial Hair Decreases Fit Factor of Masks and Respirators in Healthcare Providers. *Biology*, 10(10), p.1031.

Rowe, M. and Ross, J.I., (2015). Comparing the recruitment of ethnic and racial minorities in police departments in England and Wales with the USA. *Policing: A Journal of Policy and Practice*, 9(1), pp.26-35.

Sato, M., (2003). Police recruits' training and the socialisation process: from the network perspective. *The Police Journal*, 76(4), pp.289-303.

Scarman, L.J. (1981). The Scarman Report: The Brixton disorders. London: HMSO.

Schuck, A.M. and Rabe-Hemp, C.E., (2018). Investing in people: Salary and turnover in policing. *Policing: an international journal*, 14(1), pp.113-28.

Shears, C. E. (2020). *Differences in Perceptions of Work Stress Resulting from Harassment on the Job Among Female and Male Law Enforcement Personnel: a Mixed Methods Study* (Doctoral dissertation, Northcentral University).

Silvestri, M., (2017). Police culture and gender: Revisiting the 'cult of masculinity'. *Policing: A Journal of Policy and Practice*, 11(3), pp.289-300.

Simon, J., (2019). *Perceptions of Armed Policing: Barriers and Motivations to Becoming an Authorised Firearms Officer* (MSc dissertation, Canterbury Christ Church University).

Simpson, R. and Sargeant, E., (2022). Exploring the Perceptual Effects of Uniforms and Accoutrements Among a Sample of Police Officers: The Locker Room as a Site of Transformation. *Policing: A Journal of Policy and Practice*.

Sklansky, D.A., (2005). Not your father's police department: Making sense of the new demographics of law enforcement. *J. Crim. L. & Criminology*, 96, p.1209.

Skolnick J. (2008). Enduring Issues of Police Culture and Demographics. *Policing and Society*, Volume 18 (1), p.35-45.

Stichman, A.J., Hassell, K.D. and Archbold, C.A., (2010). Strength in numbers? A test of Kanter's theory of tokenism. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 38(4), pp.633-39.

Strand, S., Persson, A. and Sundevall, F., (2022). Solving 'the Uniform Issue': Gender and Professional Identity in the Swedish Military. *Nordic Journal of Working Life Studies*, pp.1-19).

Taylor-Greene, H. and del Carmen, A., (2002). Female police officers in Texas: Perceptions of colleagues and stress. *Policing: An International Journal of Police Strategies and Management*, 25 (2002), pp.385-98

Tajfel, H., (1978). Interindividual behaviour and Intergroup behaviour. In: H. Tajfel, ed. *Differentiation between social groups: studies in the social psychology of intergroup relations*. London: Academic Press, p.27–60.

Todak, N., Leban, L. and Hixon, B., (2021). Are women opting out? A mixed methods study of women patrol officers' promotional aspirations. *Feminist Criminology*, 16(5), pp.658-79.

Tonge, R., Coombs, H. and Batcheler, M., 2010. Police and performance related pay: an exploratory study of rewarding individual performance in the police service. *Journal of Finance and Management in Public Services*, 8(1), pp.21-33.

Torre, M. (2014). The scarring effect of 'women's work': the determinants of women's attrition from male-dominated occupations. *Social Forces*, 93(1), pp. 1-29.

Total policing (2014). An armed response: A survey of firearms officers' opinions of post incident procedures. Met Police. Accessed on 11 July 2022. Available at: http://www.nwpolfed.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/05/AnArmedResponse Final April2014.pdf

Turner, J.C., Brown, R.J. and Tajfel, H., (1979). Social comparison and group interest in ingroup favouritism. *European journal of social psychology*, 9(2), pp.187-204.

Van Maanen, J. (1972). *Police Socialisation: an empirical assessment of job attitudes changes during the initial employment period* – available for download at https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/4379520.pdf

Vera Jiménez, J. C., Fernandez, F., Ayuso, J., and Lorente Acosta, J. A. (2020). Evaluation of the police operational tactical procedures for reducing officer injuries resulting from physical interventions in problematic arrests. The case of the Municipal Police of Cádiz (Spain). *International Journal of Occupational Medicine and Environmental Health*, 33(1), 35–43.

Waddington PJ. (1999). Police Canteen Sub-Culture: An Appreciation. *British Journal of Criminology* (Volume 39 (2), p.287-389).

Walklate, S. (2000). 'Equal opportunities and the future of policing' in Leishman, F., Loveday, B. and Savage, S. (eds) *Core Issues in Policing*, (2nd edition), Essex: Pearson Education Ltd.

West, C., and Zimmerman, D. H. (1987). Doing gender. *Gender and Society*, 1(2), pp.125-51.

West, S. (2019). *Designing a human-centric rigid body armor for female police officers: The implications of fit on performance and gender inclusivity*, Master's thesis, University of Kansas, Arkansas.

Westmarland, L., (2001). Gender and policing. Willan: Devon.

Westmarland, L., (2012). Police cultures. In T. Newburn (ed.), *Handbook of Policing* (pp.281-308). Cornwall: Willan.

White, D., (2006). A conceptual analysis of the hidden curriculum of police training in England and Wales. *Policing and Society*, 16(4), pp.386-404.

White, M.D. and Escobar, G., (2008). Making good cops in the twenty-first century: Emerging issues for the effective recruitment, selection and training of police in the United States and abroad. *International Review of Law, Computers & Technology, 22*(1-2), pp.119-134. Wilson, J. M. (2012). Articulating the dynamic police staffing challenge: An examination of supply and demand. Policing: *An International Journal of Police Strategies & Management*.

Wilson, J.M., Dalton, E., Scheer, C. and Grammich, C.A. (2010), *Police Recruitment and Retention for the New Millennium*, RAND Corporation, Santa Monica, CA.

Winsor, T.P. (2012). *Independent Review of Police Officer and Staff Remuneration and Conditions Final Report*. London: HMSO.

Yu, H.H., (2020). Glass ceiling in federal law enforcement: An exploratory analysis of the factors contributing to women's career advancement. *Review of Public Personnel Administration*, 40(2), pp.183-201.